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|- HALF-YEAR ACTIVITY REPORT

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE FIRST HALF OF THE YEAR

1  Growth projects

In March 2011, Arkema successfully started up #svrKynaf® PVDF fluoropolymer production plant on
schedule at the Changsu site in China. In accosdaiiih the Group’s growth strategy in emerging daes,
this new plant dedicated to production of the K§nabVF polymer and the VF2 (vinylidene fluoride) nooner
strengthens Arkema’s position in Asia. It will serthe traditional markets for Kyrfarthigh-performance
industrial coatings, oil and gas, chemical engimggrand new high-growth markets (photovoltaicilim-ion

batteries).

2 Other highlights

In April 2011, the European Commission authorized Erench State to provide a 40% subsidy to finance
Technological Risk Prevention PlarBlgns de Prévention des Risques TechnologiqueBRT). This will
enable Arkema to finalize the study of a reorgatioreof its chlorochemicals and hydrogen peroxidgviies

on the Jarrie site in the Isére region of France.

On June 12011, the Arkema Group subsidiary Alphacan comgi¢he divestment of its pipelines business in
France to Pipelife France, a subsidiary of the IRgp&roup. This activity represents annual salésame
€45 million, with its industrial operations located the Gaillon site in the Eure region of Frangdis
transaction is part of Alphacan’s ongoing strategyefocus its business on PVC Profiles in Fraicerder to

develop specialty activities with higher added ealu

In June 2011, Arkema and Canada Fluorspar Inc.)(Gighed a memorandum of understanding for joint
development by the two groups of a fluorspar mmé&i. Lawrence (Newfoundland, Canada). Fluorspéhnes
mineral used in production of hydrofluoric acide thhain raw material for the production of refrigargas and
fluoropolymers. Arkema will progressively acquire 18.9% stake in CFI, with an initial investment of
CDN 15.5 million. The first stage of this operatitmok place at 30 June, raising Arkema’s owners$bif1%.
Subsequently, the two groups will jointly develapmdaun the St. Lawrence mine, through a 50/50 jeanture
expected to start operations in early 2013. Arkeriizhen make a second investment of CDN 68 millio
Arkema will thus benefit from long-term, compet#ivaccess to a key commodity for its North American

fluorochemicals operations.
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II. ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL RESULTS FOR FIRST HALF 2011

(In millions of euros) S half 2011 %half 2010 Variations

in %
SaAleS. . 3,506 2,913 +20%
EBITDA. ...t 607 378 +61%
Recurring operating income.................. 464 236 +97%
Other income and expenses.............cccvvveeee. (10) (4)
Operating iNnCome............coeeevvvvieeneeennn. 454 232 +96%
Adjusted netincome.........ccccoevvvevieeiiiicns 344 158 x2.2
Net income —Group share...................... 335 591 x2.1
CAPEX courant 128 113 13%
Net debt 265 94 x2.8

(06/30/11) (12/31/10)

Sales

ARKEMA's sales in i half 2011 reached €3,506 million, 20.4% up ov&half 2010. The +3.0% volume effect
includes a +4.9% increase in volume for Industtihémicals and Performance Products overall, ardaction
in volume for Vinyl Products primarily related thetimpact of the major maintenance turnaround aetaaand
a softer activity in June related to the announcero&lower ethylene prices. The +18.2% price dffeznslates
the Group’s ability to pass on raw material pritses to its sales prices. The +1.1% scope of bssiaéfect
includes a positive contribution from the acrylassets purchased in North America and a negatigadtrfrom
the sale of the PVC pipes business in France. TH#%6 currency translation effect essentially rafiethe

strengthening of the euro versus the US dollar.

EBITDA

EBITDA was up 61% compared t&' half 2010, reaching €607 million, a new historisagh for the Group for

a half-year period.

This excellent performance is the result of the ynarogress initiatives underway across the Groaptsvities.
Above all it illustrates the excellent repositiogirof the various business lines in fast-growing ket
(photovoltaics, animal nutrition, water treatmegigctronics, etc.), our growing positions in Asiaparticular
with the new production units in China in the flachemicals sector (HFC-125 gas unit started in IA{910
and Kynaf PVDF polymer unit started in March 2011), the @asing contribution of innovations in
sustainable development solutions, and finally ARKESs ability to pass on rises in raw material cogisits
sales prices.
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EBITDA margin reached a new record level at 17.3% of safénst 13.0% in®Lhalf 2010, with Industrial

Chemicals and Performance Products overall aclgestinEBITDA margin of 21.8%.

Operating income

Operating income reached €454 million against €28on in 1% half 2010. It includes €143 million
amortization and -€10 million other income and exges. In 1 half 2010 amortization amounted to

€142 million, while other income and expenses stato&4 million.

Net income Group share

Net income Group share was multiplied by 2.1, gsia €335 million. It includes a €113 million takarge
representing 24.4% of the recurring operating ineom

Segment performance

Industrial Chemicals sales rose to €1,889 million against €1,515 mmillia I half 2010, a 25% increase
sustained by growing volumes and significant piitereases above raw material cost rises acrogzaduct
lines.

EBITDA rose by 67% to €454 million against €272lwit in 1°' half 2010. Beyond the improvement in margins
for acrylic monomers that benefited from tight siyfglemand balance conditions, the significant inweraent

in EBITDA reflects sustained demand across the segs traditional markets (refrigeration for
Fluorochemicals, animal nutrition, oil, gas andrpeltemicals for Thiochemicals, automotive and camesu
goods for PMMA, coatings and superabsorbents fratrylics activities), a fast increase in PMMAesafor the
LED television market, and the success of many trgwojects. In particular, the new HFC-125 fluameg
production unit started in China in April 2010 ath@ integration of the acrylics activities purctdhée North

America made a major contribution to the segmenBSsT DA growth.

EBITDA margin reached a record high of 24.0% oésahgainst 18.0% iri*half 2010.

Performance Productssales grew by 19% to €976 million against €820iomlin 1% half 2010. This increase
was sustained by the major price increases actbpsoduct lines, the product portfolio shiftingward higher
added value applications, and a rise in volumegmaiticular in Technical Polymers and in Asia.

EBITDA stood at €172 million, 32% up ofi half 2010. This improvement reflects the segmestrsng growth
momentum with both the development of new applicatiin many sectors related to sustainable devedapm
(photovoltaics, high performance biopolymers fotoawtive, filtration, etc.) and a greater preseincAsia, in
particular with the rapid ramp-up of the Kyfi@VDF unit started in China in March 2011.

EBITDA margin reached 17.6% against 15.9% Trhalf 2010.
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Vinyl Products sales stood at €631 million against €569 million1f' half 2010. In a challenging European
construction market, volumes decreased. They vimitetl by the five-yearly maintenance turnarountiatera
and by softer demand in June related to the anmonect of a drop in ethylene prices. PVC and cawsstita
prices were increased, offsetting the rise in @ldtt and ethylene costs, but unit margins remailosy.

EBITDA stood at €2 million against -€8 million iri' half 2010. Improvement in competitiveness andaesing
on the more profitable activities remain the topities of this segment. Accordingly, Arkema fiizad in June
the divestment of the PVC pipes business in Framh&h accounted for €45 million sales.

Finally, Qatar Vinyl Company, in which ARKEMA has18% shareholding, once again reported an excellent
performance, with a contribution of €9 million etpincome.

Cash flow

Free cash flow at June 8@011 was negative at €130 million. It includes48Emillion increase in working
capital. The traditional increase in working capitathe first half of the year was intensified ghyear by the
very strong surge in sales combined with the sicguift increase in sales prices and raw materiacas well as
a build-up of some inventories in the run-up to th@intenance turnarounds planned for later in #wr.yThe

working capital on sales ratio objective for thayef below 15% is maintained.

Current investments amounted to €128 millionSrhalf 2011, against €113 million iri'half 2010.

Net debt

Net debt stood at €265 million (against €94 millanDecember 312010), i.e. 10.7% gearing. It includes the
payment of a €1.0 dividend per share as well agtpact of the investment in Canada Fluorspar dneounting
to CDN$15 million (approximately €11 million) andree acquisition costs for Total's specialty resingvities

(approximately €6 million).

Ill. TRANSACTION WITH RELATED PARTIES

Transactions with related parties are describetta 17 to the condensed consolidated financitdsiants as
at June 39 2011.
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IV. HIGHLIGHTS SINCE JUNE 30 2011

On July £'2011, Arkema finalized the acquisition, for anegptise value of €550 million, of two of Total’'s
specialty chemicals businesses: coating resing/(Ca#ley, and Cook Composites and Polymers), aratquure
resins (Sartomer). On the basis of 2010 figure#) basinesses, once included in the Arkema busimess, will
represent annual sales of some €750 million. Irfiteehalf of 2011, prior to these activities joig the Arkema

Group, their sales reached €490 million, a 13%ciase over last year.

On July 28 2011, Arkema put in place a new €700 million maltirency bank credit line, with a 5-year term.
At the same date, the Group also reduced to €3@mtihe amount of the syndicated multi-currencgdit line
set up in 2006.

V. OUTLOOK

In 2" half 2011, Arkema will continue implementing itsany internal projects, in particular the integratiof
Total's specialty resins which are expected to Goute EBITDA of some €35 million over the next ®nths,
the surge to full capacity of the KyfaPVDF fluoro-polymer unit in China, and, on the sa@hangshu site, the

start-up in the summer of the Coatex specialtylacpplymer unit.

The Group will continue to monitor closely the m@economic and political environment around thabegl as

well as trends in its raw materials costs.

In this context, Arkema will maintain a strict couitof its costs and working capital, and is cogfitlin its

ability to adapt to raw material and energy priagiations.

Following on from the outstanding performance it Half 2011, and taking into account the traditional
seasonality effect for Arkema ifi%half of the year related to some of its activitsorogases, paint, PVC) and
to some major planned maintenance turnarounds,akeeaffirms its strong confidence for 2011. Thewr
anticipates an annual EBITDA increase of around 3f0%reby exceeding for the first time in its higtehe
symbolic €1 billion EBITDA milestone..

VI. MAIN RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The main risks and uncertainties which the Grougldcéace over the next six months are those desdril the
2010 Reference Document filed with the Autorité demchés financiers (« AMF ») on March®34011 under
number D.11-0203. This document is available orefrl’'s website under the heading « Investor Relation

(www.finance.arkema.comand on the AMF websitewfvw.amf-france.orly Additionally, an update of

contingent liabilities, where applicable, is giviara note to the half-year financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Notes 1st half 2011 1st half 2010
(In millions of euros)
Sales (C2&C3) 3,506 2,913
Operating expenses (2,771) (2,418)
Research and development expenses (72) (68)
Selling and administrative expenses (199) (191)
Recurring operating income (C2) 464 236
Other income and expenses (C4) (10) (4)
Operating income (C2) 454 232
Equity in income of affiliates 10 7
Financial result (13) (12)
Income taxes (C6) (113) (67)
Net income of continuing operations 338 160
Net income of discontinued operations - -
Net income 338 160
Of which: non-controlling interests 3 1
Net income - Group share 335 159
Earnings per share (amount in euros) (C8) 5.45 2.62
Diluted earnings per share (amount in euros) (C8) 5.38 2.61
Depreciation and amortization (C2) (143) (142)
EBITDA * (C2) 607 378
Adjusted net income * (C5) 344 158
Adjusted net income per share (amount in euros) (C8) 5.59 2.60
Diluted adjusted net income per share (amount ilogu (C8) 5.52 2.60

* see note B19 Accounting policies / Main accountmgl financial indicators

10
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

1st half 2011 1st half 2010
(In millions of euros)

Net income 338 160
Hedging adjustments 13 (2)
Deferred taxes on hedging adjustments 1 -
Actuarial gains and losses 17 (31)
Deferred taxes on actuarial gains and losses (5) 7
Other items - 1
Deferred taxes on other items - -
Change in translation adjustments (70) 185
Other comprehensive income of continuing operations (44) 160

Other comprehensive income of discontinued opearatio - -

Total income and expenses recognized directly in eity (44) 160
Comprehensive income 294 320
Of which : non-controlling interests 2 4
Comprehensive income — Group share 292 316

11
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(In millions of euros) Notes 30 June 2011 31 December 2010
ASSETS

Intangible assets, net (C9) 483 494

Property, plant and equipment, net (C10) 1,650 1,703
Equity affiliates: investments and loans 52 55

Other investments 44 38

Deferred tax assets 28 29

Other non-current assets 97 89

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 2,354 2,408
Inventories (C11) 1,054 864

Accounts receivable 1,143 875

Other receivables and prepaid expenses 127 120

Income taxes recoverable 18 20

Other current financial assets 1 4

Cash and cash equivalents 549 527

Total assets of discontinued operations - -

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 2,892 2,410
TOTAL ASSETS 5,246 4,818
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Share capital (C12) 618 615

Paid-in surplus and retained earnings 1,871 1,567
Treasury shares - (6)

Translation adjustments (27) 43

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY - GROUP SHARE 2,462 2,219
Non-controlling interests 23 21

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 2,485 2,240
Deferred tax liabilities 49 52

Provisions and other non-current liabilities (C13) 771 807

Non-current debt (C15) 592 587

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,412 1,446
Accounts payable 804 779

Other creditors and accrued liabilities 274 279

Income taxes payable 43 37

Other current financial liabilities 6 3

Current debt (C15) 222 34

Total liabilities of discontinued operations -

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,349 1,132
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS'

EQUITY 5,246 4,818

12
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(In millions of euros) 1st half 2011 1st half 2010
Net income 338 160
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of assets 144 144
Provisions, valuation allowances and deferred taxes (16) (32)
(Gains)/losses on sales of assets 3) (8)
Undistributed affiliate equity earnings (1) 1
Change in working capital (431) (166)
Other changes 3 2
Cash flow from operating activities 34 101
Intangible assets and property, plant, and equipaddfitions (138) (123)
Change in fixed asset payables (35) (13)
Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (6) a7
Increase in long-term loans (18) (24)
Total expenditures (197) a77)
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets and prgpsant, and 7 12
equipment
Change in fixed asset receivables 2 -

Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries, net of cash sol - -
Proceeds from sale of unconsolidated investments - -

Repayment of long-term loans 7 35

Total divestitures 16 a7
Cash flow from investing activities (181) (130)
Issuance (repayment) of shares and other equity 9 17
Purchase of treasury shares - (1)
Dividends paid to parent company shareholders (61) (37)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders - (1)
Increase / decrease in long-term debt 14 1
Increase / decrease in short-term borrowings ank beerdrafts 187 (6)
Cash flow from financing activities 149 (27)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equisalent 2 (56)
Effect of exchange rates and changes in scope 20 39
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 527 89
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 549 72

At 30 June 2011, income taxes paid amount to €348Bm{€31 million at 30 June 2010).
Interest received and paid included in cash flamfioperating activities at 30 June 2011 amounpeesvely,
to €3 million and €3 million (€0.3 million and €3rillion at 30 June 2010).

13
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Shares issued Treasury shares
Sharehold
ers' equity Non- Share-
Paid-in Retained Translation — Group controlling holders’
(In millions of euros) Number  Amount  surplus earnings  adjustments Number Amount share interests  equity
At 1 January 2011 61,493,794 615 1,011 556 43 (136,280) (6) 2,219 21 2,240
Cash dividend - - - (61) - - - (61) - (61)
Issuance of share capital 350,033 3 9 - - - - 12 - 12
Purchase of treasury shares - - - - - - - - - -
Cancellation of purchased ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) )
treasury shares
Grants of treasury shares tao
employees - - - (6) - 132,200 6 - - -
Sale of treasury shares - - - - - - - - - -
Share-based payments - - - 3 - - - 3 - 3
Other - - - 3) - c - @) - 3)
Transactions with
shareholders 350,033 3 9 (67) - 132,200 6 (49) - (49)
Net income o - - 335 - o - 335 3 338
Income and expense
recognized directly through - - - 26 (69) - - (43) @) (44)
equity
Total comprehensive ) ) ) 361 (69) ) ) 292 2 204
income
At 30 June 2011 61,843,827 618 1,020 850 (26)  (4,080) - 2,462 23 2,485
Shares issued Treasury shares
Sharehold
ers' equity Non- Share-
Paid-in Retained Translation — Group controlling holders’

(In millions of euros) Number  Amount  surplus earnings  adjustments Number Amount share interests  equity
At 1 January 2010 60,454,973 605 999 265 (78) (407) - 1,791 22 1,813
Cash dividend - - - (37) - - - 37) (1) (38)
Issuance of share capital 824,424 8 9 - - - - 17 - 17
Purchase of treasury shares - - - - - (42,000) (1) ) - (1)
Cancellation of purchased ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) )
treasury shares
Grants of treasury shares ta
employees . - N @) N 42,127 1 - - -
Sale of treasury shares - - - - - - - -
Share-based payments - - - 2 - - - 2 - 2
Other - - - - - - - - - -
Transactions with
shareholders 824,424 8 9 (36) - 127 - (19) 1) (20)
Net income - - - 159 - - - 159 1 160
Income and expense
recognized directly through - - - (25) 182 - - 157 3 160
equity
Total comprehensive
income - - - 134 182 = - 316 4 320
At 30 June 2010 61,279,397 613 1,008 363 104 (280) - 2,088 25 2,113

14
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A. HIGHLIGHTS

3  Growth projects

In March 2011, Arkema successfully started up #svrKynaf® PVDF fluoropolymer production plant on
schedule at the Changsu site in China. In accosdaiiih the Group’s growth strategy in emerging daes,
this new plant dedicated to production of the K§rabVF polymer and the VF2 (vinylidene fluoride) nooner
strengthens Arkema’s position in Asia. It will serthe traditional markets for Kyrfar(high-performance
industrial coatings, oil and gas, chemical engimggrand new high-growth markets (photovoltaicilim-ion

batteries).

4 Other highlights

In April 2011, the European Commission authorizbd French State to provide a 40% subsidy to finance
Technological Risk Prevention PlarBlgns de Prévention des Risques TechnologiquePRT). This will
enable Arkema to finalize the study of a reorgatioreof its chlorochemicals and hydrogen peroxidgviies

on the Jarrie site in the Isére region of France.

On June 12011, the Arkema Group subsidiary Alphacan comgi¢he divestment of its pipelines business in
France to Pipelife France, a subsidiary of the IRgp&roup. This activity represents annual salésame
€45 million, with its industrial operations located the Gaillon site in the Eure region of Frangdis
transaction is part of Alphacan’s ongoing stratemyefocus its business on PVC Profiles in Franterder to

develop specialty activities with higher added ealu

In June 2011, Arkema and Canada Fluorspar Inc.)(€ighed a memorandum of understanding for joint
development by the two groups of a fluorspar mmé&i. Lawrence (Newfoundland, Canada). Fluorspénes
mineral used in production of hydrofluoric acide thhain raw material for the production of refrigargas and
fluoropolymers. Arkema will progressively acquire 18.9% stake in CFI, with an initial investment of
CAD 15.5 million. The first stage of this operatitook place at 30 June, raising Arkema’s owners$hifh1%.
Subsequently, the two groups will jointly develapmaun the St. Lawrence mine, through a 50/50 jeamture
expected to start operations in early 2013. Arkentidhen make a second investment of CAD 68 miillio
Arkema will thus benefit from long-term, competéivaccess to a key commodity for its North American

fluorochemicals operations.

15
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B. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

ARKEMA is a global chemicals player, with three imess segments: Vinyl Products, Industrial Chemieald
Performance Products.

Arkema S.A. is a French limited liability compafsociété anonymewith a Board of Directors, subject to the
provisions of book Il of the French Commercial Caated all other legal provisions applicable to Frenc
commercial companies.

The company’s head office is at 420 rue d’Estiedi@rves, 92700 Colombes (France). It was incorpatatn
31 January 2003 and the shares of Arkema S.A. besn listed on the Paris stock exchange (Eurosextg 18
May 2006.

ARKEMA's condensed consolidated interim financithtements at 30 June 2011 were prepared under the
responsibility of the Chairman and CEO of Arkem#.Sand were approved by the Board of Directors of
Arkema S.A. on 1 August 2011.

The condensed consolidated interim financial statégmat 30 June 2011 were prepared in accordaribethei
international accounting standards issued by tt&Blfinternational Accounting Standards Board) &sased at

30 June 2011, in compliance with IAS 34 “Interimdncial reporting” and the international standaddorsed

by the European Union at 30 June 2011. As condeinsedm financial statements, they do not incogterall

of the disclosures required in full financial staents and must thus be read in conjunction withctresolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 Dece2D0.

The accounting framework and standards adoptedhbyBuropean Commission can be consulted on the
following website http://ec.europa.eu/internal_market/accountingfiadéx_fr.htm

The accounting policies applied in preparing thedemsed consolidated interim financial statemen8alune
2011 are identical to those used in the consolilfitmncial statements at 31 December 2010, eXoepERS
standards, amendments and interpretations, as edldpt the European Union and the IASB, that are
obligatorily applicable for accounting periods coeming on or after 1 January 2011 (and which hdadaen
applied early by the Group), namely:

Standards Title
IAS 24 (Amended) Related party disclosures
Amendments to IAS 32 Classification of rights issue

Amendments to IFRS 1 Additional Exemptions for Ftisie Adopters

Amendments to IFRIC 14  Prepayments of a minimundifum requirement

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing financial liabilities withg@ity instruments
Annual improvements to IFRS (published in May 2010)

16
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The application of these standards, amendmentsndsigbretations did not have any significant impawtthe

Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The impact of the other standards, amendments terpietations published by the IASB and the IFRIC
(International Financial Reporting InterpretatigdBsmmittee) which were not yet in force at 1 Jan2ry1 and

have not been applied early by the Group, is ctigréeing analyzed. The following texts are invalve

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Finaaici Not adopted at 30 June 2011
Reporting Standards - Severe Hyperinflation and
Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters

IFRS 7 Disclosures - transfers of financial assets Not adopted at 30 June 2011
IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements Not adopted at 30 June 2011
IFRS 11 Joint arrangements Not adopted at 30 June 2011
IFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other entities Not adopted at 30 June 2011
IFRS 13 Fair value measurement Not adopted at 30 June 2011
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of ltems of O@emprehensive Not adopted at 30 June 2011
Income (OCI)
IAS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets Not adopted at 30 June 2011
Amendments to IAS 19 Employee benefits Not adopted at 30 June 2011
IAS 27 (Revised) Separate financial statements Not adopted at 30 June 2011
IAS 28 (Revised) Investments in associates and y@ntures Not adopted at 30 June 2011

Preparation of consolidated financial statementacicordance with IFRS requires Group managemenntatce
estimates and retain assumptions that can haveact on the amounts recognized in assets anditledbat

the balance sheet date, and have a correspondipgcinon the income statement. Management made its
estimates and determined its assumptions on thie diggast experience and taking into account wifiefactors
considered to be reasonable for the valuation £dtasand liabilities. Use of different assumptionsld have a
material effect on these valuations. The main apsioms made by management in preparing the financia
statements are those used for calculation of tlevexable value of property, plant and equipmerd an
intangibles, pension benefit obligations, defertades and provisions. The disclosures provided ewiiing
contingent assets and liabilities at the date eparation of the consolidated financial statemetde involve

the use of estimates.

The consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with the historical cost conventsxgept for

certain financial assets and liabilities which sgeognized at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements are preséntedllions of euros, rounded to the nearest wmilli unless

otherwise indicated.
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The principal accounting policies applied by th@@r are presented below.

1 Consolidation principles

» Companies which are directly or indirectly conteolloy ARKEMA have been fully included in the
consolidated financial statements.
e The entities, assets and operations over which gantrol is exercised are consolidated using the

proportionate method

* Investments in associates over which significafiuémce is exercised are consolidated under the
equity method. Where the ownership interest is tlieaa 20%, the equity method is only applied in
cases where significant influence can be demomestrat

» Shares owned in companies which do not meet theeatriteria are included in other investments

and recognized as available-for-sale financialtasseaccordance with IAS 39.

All material transactions between consolidated camgs, and all intercompany profits, have beenipéiad.
2  Foreign currency translation

2.1 Translation of financial statements of foreign camies

The functional operating currency of foreign comiparin the scope of consolidation is their localrency, in
which most of their transactions are denominatdwiTbalance sheets are translated into eurosebakis of
exchange rates at the end of the period; the statismof income and of cash flows are translatedguthe
average exchange rates during the period. Foreighamge differences resulting from translation loé t
financial statements of these subsidiaries arerdecbeither in “Translation adjustments” in shatdbacs’ equity
in the consolidated financial statements for theuprshare or in “Non-controlling interests” for thkare not

directly or indirectly attributable to the Group.

2.2 Transactions in foreign currencies

In application of IAS 21 “The effects of changedoneign exchange rates”, transactions denominatéareign
currencies are translated by the entity carryingtbe transaction into its functional currency la¢ £xchange
rate applicable on the transaction date. Monetatgrite sheet items are restated at the closingaagetrate at

the balance sheet date. Gains and losses resfuliingranslation are recognized in recurring ogagaincome.

3  Goodwill and business combinations

Operations after 1 January 2010
The Group uses the acquisition method for the neitiog of business combinations, in accordance WRS 3
(Revised).

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilitiesuased are stated at fair value at the acquisitiie.d
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Where the business combination agreement proviates purchase price adjustment, the Group incltiue$air
value of this adjustment at the acquisition datthancost of the business combination, even ifaffjgsstment is
optional.
Non-controlling interests are measured at the atipn date, either at fair value (the full goodwiiethod) or
the NClI's proportionate share of identifiable neteds of the entity acquired (the partial goodmiithod). The
decision of which option to use is made for eaclsitess combination. Subsequent acquisitions of non-
controlling interests are always recorded in equitgardless of the choice made at the time o&tlogiisition.
At the acquisition date, goodwill is measured &sdtfference between:

- the acquisition price plus the amount of any nontadling interests in the acquired entity and

the fair value of the acquirer's previously-heldigginterest in that acquired entity,

- and the fair value of the identifiable assets éaillties.
Gooduwill is recognized in the balance sheet asgeatg.negative goodwill arising on an acquisitiondadirect
acquisition expenses, are recognized immediatethénincome statement under “Other income and esqsn
(see note B19 Main accounting and financial indicg}t
Contingent liabilities are recognized in the bakrgheet when the obligation concerned is currentheat
acquisition date and their fair value can be réjiaheasured.

The Group has a maximum of 12 months to finalizermeination of the acquisition price and goodwill.

Operations prior to 31 December 2009
The Group applied IFRS 3. The main points affettgdFRS 3 (revised) are the following:

- goodwill was calculated as the difference betwdmnpurchase price, as increased by related
costs, of shares of consolidated companies an¢tbap share of the fair value of their net
assets and contingent liabilities at the acquisitate;

- for any subsequent acquisition in the same erttity,difference between the acquisition cost
and book value of non-controlling interests wasuded in goodwill;

- price adjustments were included in the cost oftthginess combination if the adjustment was
probable and could be measured reliably;

- contingent liabilities arising from potential oldions were recognized.

4 Intangible assets

Intangible assets include goodwill, software, ptaetrademarks, leasehold rights, development casts
electricity consumption rights. Intangible assets eecognized in the balance sheet at their adiprisor
production cost, less any accumulated amortizatimhimpairment losses recognized.

Intangible assets other than goodwill and trademaiikh indefinite useful lives are amortized ortraight-line
basis over 3 to 20 years depending on the pattecording to which the entity envisages using theiriu
economic benefits related to the asset.

The main categories of intangible assets and tt@taration periods applied by the Group are aofed:
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« Patents: residual period until expiry of paterdtpction
» Licences: term of the contract
e Softwares: 3to 5 years

e Capitalized research expenses: useful life of th¢ept

e REACH registration fees: protection period oftstalata

4.1 Goodwill

Goodwill is not amortized. It is subject to impa&nt tests as soon as any indicators of potentiphirment are
identified. Impairment tests are performed at lemstually. The methodology used for the performaote
impairment tests is described in paragraph B6 Impait of long-lived assets.

Goodwill is measured and recognized as describedtim B3 Goodwill and business combinations.

4.2 Trademarks

Trademarks with indefinite useful lives are not atzed and are subject to impairment tests.

4.3 Research and development expenses

Research costs are recognized in expenses in ttiedp@ which they are incurred. Grants received ar
recognized as a deduction from research costs.

Under IAS 38 “Intangible assets”, development casts capitalized as soon as ARKEMA can demonstiate,
particular:

e itsintention and its financial and technical aitio complete the development project;

- that it is probable that future economic benefitslautable to the development costs will flow twet
enterprise, which also implies having successfatiynpleted the main non-toxicity studies relating to
the new product; and

« that the cost of the asset can be measured reliably

Grants received in respect of development actiitiee recognized as a deduction from capitalizegldpment
costs if they have been definitively earned by@meup. The Group also receives public financinthe form of
repayable advances for the development of certaijeqts. Repayment of these advances is geneméted to
the future revenues generated by the developmdrd. Group recognizes these advances in balance sheet

liabilities (in the “Other non-current liabilitiegaption) taking account of the probability of theipayment.

4.4 Research tax credit

The Group recognizes the research tax credit @slaction from operating expenses.
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4.5 REACH

As no specific IFRIC interpretations exist on thubjgct, Arkema applies the following methods basedAS
38:
« when most of the tests required for preparing éugstration file have been acquired from a thirdypa
ARKEMA records an operating right in the intangiblesets;
* when most of the expenses involved in preparingehestration file have been carried out internalty
outsourced, ARKEMA capitalizes the development £dlat meet the requirements for capitalization
defined by IAS 38 (see 4.3).

5 Property, plant & equipment

5.1 Gross value

The gross value of items of property, plant andmggent corresponds to their acquisition or productost in
accordance with IAS 16 “Property, plant & equipnief@ross value is not subject to revaluation.

Equipment subsidies are deducted directly fromcibst of the assets which they financed. With effemtn 1
January 2009 and in accordance with the revisesloreof IAS 23, borrowing costs that are directtyiautable
to financing tangible assets that necessarily tagebstantial period of time to get ready for tlatiended use or
sale are eligible for capitalization as part of tust of the assets for the portion of the costiiredd over the
construction period.

Routine maintenance and repairs are charged toni@éo the period in which they are incurred. Costated to
major maintenance turnarounds of industrial faesitwhich take place at intervals of greater thambnths are
capitalized at the time they are incurred and deated over the period between two such turnaraunds
Fixed assets which are held under finance leaseams, as defined in IAS 17 “Leases”, which hdwe ¢ffect
of transferring substantially all the risks and aggls inherent to ownership of the asset from thsdeto the
lessee, are capitalized in assets at their magtae\or at the discounted value of future leasemeays if lower
(such assets are depreciated using the methodsisfdl lives described below). The correspondirapde
obligation is recorded as a liability. Leases wha not meet the above definition of finance leages

accounted for as operating leases.

5.2 Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basighe basis of the acquisition or production césfsets are

depreciated over their estimated useful lives bggmry of asset. The principal categories and l$gés are as

follows:
e Machinery and tools: 5-10 years
« Transportation equipment: 5-20 years
e Specialized complex installations: 10-20 years
e Buildings: 10-30 years
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These useful lives are reviewed annually and medlifi expectations change from the previous esém&auch

changes in accounting estimate are accounted fargnspective basis.

6 Impairment of long-lived assets

The recoverable amount of property, plant & equiptrad intangible assets is tested as soon asditation

of impairment is identified. A review to identif§ any such indication exists is performed at eagéryend. An
impairment test is performed at least once a yeegspect of goodwill and trademarks.

An asset’s recoverable amount corresponds to thater of its value in use and its fair value netadts of
disposal.

Tests are performed for each autonomous groupseftsstermed Cash Generating Units (CGUs). A CG¥) is
group of assets whose continued use generatesfloagh that are substantially independent of casiwdl
generated by other groups of assets. They are wiolddbusiness operations, which bring together gsoof
similar products in strategic, commercial and indakterms. For ARKEMA, the CGUs are the businasgts
presented in note B14. The value in use of a CGdéisrmined on the basis of the discounted futash dlows
that are expected to be generated by the assepseistion, based upon Group management's expectattion
future economic and operating conditions over thet b years or, when the asset is to be sold, bypesison
with its market value. In 2010, the terminal values determined on the basis of a perpetuity argneaith rate

of 1.5%. An after-tax rate of 7.5% is used to disgofuture cash flows and the terminal value in 20Any
impairment is calculated as the difference betwberrecoverable amount and the carrying amourtie@faGU.
Because of its unusual nature, any such impairiseptesented separately in the income statemerdruthe
“Other income and expenses” caption. Impairment rmayreversed, to the maximum carrying amount that
would have been recognized for the asset had et ast been impaired. Impairment losses on gobadweél
irreversible (in application of IFRIC 10, impairmeiosses on goodwill recognized in previous interim

accounting periods cannot be written back).

7  Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are principallynpised of:

e other investments;

» loans and financial receivables included in oth@r-ourrent assets;
e accounts receivable;

« cash and cash equivalents;

» debt and other financial liabilities (including acmts payable);

e derivatives, reported as part of other currenttassmed liabilities.
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7.1 Other investments

These securities are accounted for, in accordante MS 39, as available-for-sale assets and ares th
recognized at their fair value. In cases where failue cannot be reliably determined, the secsgritee

recognized at their historical cost. Changes invfaiue are recognized directly through sharehsldeguity.

If an objective indicator of impairment in the velof a financial asset is identified, an irreveesitmpairment
loss is recognized, in general through recurringrafing income. Such impairment is only reversedincome

at the date of disposal of the securities.

7.2 Loans and financial receivables

These financial assets are recognized at amoriipstt They are subject to impairment tests invgivan
comparison of their carrying amount to the presatte of estimated recoverable future cash flowesE tests
are carried out as soon as any indicator inferttiag the present value of these assets is lowarttier carrying
amount is identified. As a minimum such tests amdgrmed at each balance sheet date. Any impairtosestis

recognized in recurring operating income.

7.3 Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are initially recognized atirtHair value. Subsequent to initial recognitiomey are
recognized at amortized cost. If required, a bdok geovision is recognized on the basis of the n§knon-

recovery of the receivables.

7.4 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are liquid assets amdsastich can be converted into cash within less t8

months that are subject to a negligible risk ofrgjeain value.

7.5 Non-current and current debt (including accountsapée)

Non-current and current debt (other than deriva)ive recognized at amortized cost.

7.6 Derivatives

The Group may use derivatives to manage its exposuforeign currency risks and risks of changesha
prices of raw materials and energy. Derivativesduisg the Group are recognized at their fair valnehe
balance sheet, in accordance with IAS 39. Theviue of these unlisted derivatives is determingdeference
to current prices for contracts with similar matyrirhey therefore correspond to the "Level 2" gatg defined
in IFRS 7.

Changes in the fair value of these derivativesracegnized within operating income and, for foreggmrency
instruments, in financial result for the portionfofeign exchange gains and losses corresponditigetmterest

income/expense reflected by the differences betvtkenspot exchange rate and the forward exchartge ra
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except for those on instruments which are cons@lévemeet the criteria for cash flow hedge accognor

hedge accounting of a net investment in a foregggration under IAS 39.

For items that qualify for cash flow hedge accoumtithe effective portion of the change in fair ualis

recognized in shareholders’ equity under the “Inecand expense recognized directly through equidygtion

until such time as the underlying hedged item gmized through the income statement. Any ineffect
portion is recognized in net income. A hedge okainvestment in a foreign operation hedges th@swe to

foreign exchange risk of the net assets of theidareperation (IAS 21, “The effects of changes amefgn

exchange rates”). The effects of this hedge arerded directly in shareholders’ equity under thecdme and

expense recognized directly through equity” caption

8 Inventories

Inventories are valued in the consolidated findnstatements at the lower of cost and net realezablue, in
accordance with IAS 2 “Inventories”. Cost of inveriés is generally determined using the weighteeraye
cost (WAC) method.

Cost of manufactured products inventories includeg material and direct labour costs, and an atioceof
production overheads and depreciation based onalgonoduction capacity. Start-up costs and genanal
administrative costs are excluded from the coshafiufactured products inventories.

The net realizable value is the sale price as astidnfor the normal course of business, less etanzosts for

completion and sale.

9 Provisions and other non-current liabilities

A provision is recognized when:

« the Group has a legal, regulatory or contractuligation to a third party resulting from past evern
obligation can also result from Group practicespoblic commitments that create a reasonable
expectation among the third parties in questiohttie Group will assume certain responsibilities;

e itis certain or probable that the obligation Walad to an outflow of resources to the benefitef third
party; and

e its amount can be estimated reliably and correspémdhe best possible estimate of the commitment.
In exceptional cases where the amount of the diligacannot be measured with sufficient reliabijlity
disclosure is made in the notes to the financiatlestents in respect of the obligation (See note C14
Contingent liabilities).

When it is expected that the Group will obtain jadror total reimbursement of the cost that wasvjoed
against, the expected reimbursement is recognizeeceivables if, and only if, the Group is virtyatertain of
the receipt.

Legal expenses required for defence of the Grompésests are covered by a provision when significa
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Long-term provisions, other than provisions for giens and similar post-employment benefit obligadioare
not inflation-indexed or discounted as the Groupsitgers that the impact of such adjustments wooldbe
significant.

The current (less than one year) portion of provisiis maintained within the “Provisions and othen-current

liabilities” caption.

10 Pension and similar post-employment benefit olgations

In accordance with IAS 19 “Employee benefits”:
* payments made in the context of defined contrilbugians are recognized in expenses of the period;
« obligations in respect of defined benefit plans r@@ognized and valued using the actuarial projecte

unit credit method.

Post-employment benefits
For defined benefit plans, the valuation of obiigias under the projected unit credit method prialtjptakes
into account:

e an assumption concerning the date of retirement;

« adiscount rate which depends on the geograptégadm and the duration of the obligations;

* aninflation rate;

e assumptions in respect of future increases inisalarates of employee turnover and increasesaltithe

costs;

« the most recent mortality statistics for the cowstconcerned.

Differences which arise between the valuation dfgations and forecasts of such obligations (onkhbsis of
new projections or assumptions) and between foteaasd outcomes of returns on plan assets are derme
actuarial gains and losses.

The Group has opted to recognize actuarial gaidsd@sses directly in shareholders’ equity under‘theome
and expense recognized directly through equity"tioap in accordance with the amendment to IAS 19 of
December 2004.

On modification or creation of a plan, the portiohobligations which vest immediately as a restilipast
service is charged immediately to income; the partf obligations which do not vest immediatelyamortized
over the remaining vesting period.

The amount of the provision takes account of tHaevaf assets which are allocated to cover persiwhother
post-employment benefit obligations. The valuehafse assets is deducted from the provision for bediefit

obligations.
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A pension asset can be generated where a defimeditoglan is overfunded. The amount at which saiclasset
is recognized in the balance sheet may be suljeatdeiling, in application of paragraph 58 of 1AS and
IFRIC 14.

Other long-term benefits
In respect of other long-term benefits, and in adance with applicable laws and regulations, piowis are
recognized using a simplified method. Thus, if @tuarial valuation using the projected unit costhod is
required, actuarial gains and losses and all asice costs are recognized immediately in the igion, with a
double entry being recognized to the income statéme
The net expense related to pension benefit obtigatand other employee benefit obligations is reizegl in
recurring operating income, with the exception of:

« the effect of curtailments or settlements of plartsch are presented under the “Other income and

expenses” caption in the case of substantial meadiéins to such plans;
» the interest cost, the expected return on plariasse the actuarial gains and losses relatedanges

in the discount rate on other long-term benefitsiclv are classified within the financial result tap.

At interim period ends, expenses relating to persand other long-term employee benefits are catiedlusing
an extrapolation of the actuarial valuations perfed at the previous year-end. These valuationshardfied if
significant changes have occurred in market comlitisince the previous year-end or in the casettéments,
curtailments or other material non-recurring evefése note C13.2 Provisions and other non-current

liabilities/Provisions).

11 Greenhouse gas emissions allowances (EUA) and cketil emission reductions (CER)

In the absence of an IFRS standard or interpretattating to accounting for GGmissions allowances, the
following treatment has been adopted:

» allowances allocated without payment of consideradire recognized for a nil value,

e transactions carried out in the market are recaghé the transaction amount.
At this point, greenhouse gas emissions allowa(iEel\) allocated are adequate to cover the operatioeeds
of ARKEMA's European units and a deficit is not mntly forecast. ARKEMA does not carry out a tragdin
activity in respect of C®emissions allowances. However, in the normal awfsits operations, ARKEMA
may carry out cash or forward sales of its suru@ese sales do not enter into the scope ofcgpioih of IAS
39 because of the “own use” exception.
The CERs produced by the Group in the context afegts to reduce its greenhouse gas emissions are

recognized in inventories, and sales are recortititbat net-of-tax value on delivery of the CERs.
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12 Recognition of sales

Sales are measured at the fair value of the coradide received or receivable, net of returns, érdéscounts
and volume rebates. Sales are recognized on tratsfthe purchaser of the risks and rewards related
ownership of the goods, which is determined maimtythe basis of the terms and conditions of thessal

contracts.

13 Income taxes

13.1 Current taxes

Current taxes are the amount of income taxes ti@tGroup expects to pay in respect of taxable tsraofi
consolidated companies in the period. They alsludecadjustments to current taxes in respect of peériods.
The French tax consolidation regime enables cefffaémch companies in the Group to offset their ltéexa
results in determining the tax charge for the enkBirench tax group. The overall tax charge is playaly
Arkema S.A., as the parent company of the tax grdam consolidation regimes also exist in countdatside
France.

The French Finance Act for 2010 introduced thellteba named CETontribution Economique Territoriaje
One of its components is the contribution baseda@npanies’ value added¢tisation sur la Valeur Ajoutée
des Entreprises- CVAE). After analyzing the methods for determupithis contribution in the light of the
positions of the IFRIC and France’s Accounting 8teds Authority ANC Autorité des Normes Comptab)es
late 2009, the Group considered that in this sjmeci#se, the contribution meets the requirementetoeated as

a current tax under IAS 12. The CVAE is therefdessified under “income taxes” from 1 January 2010.

13.2 Deferred taxes

The Group uses the liability method whereby detktexes are recognized based upon the temporary
differences between the financial statement andbaais of assets and liabilities, as well as ordsx carry
forwards and other tax credits, in accordance With 12 “Income taxes”.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are valuedhattax rates that are expected to apply in the iyewhich the
asset will be realized or the liability settled, thie basis of tax rates (and tax legislation) tizate been enacted
or virtually enacted at the balance sheet date.€fteet of any changes in tax rates is recognineiddome for
the period, unless it relates to items that weewipusly debited or credited through equity. Deddrtax assets
and liabilities are not discounted.

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extanthkir recovery is probable. In order to asskedikelihood
of recovery of such assets, account is notablyntalfethe profitability outlook determined by the dsp and
historical taxable profits or losses.

A deferred tax liability is recognized for all tédbta temporary differences related to investmentsuinsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, unless:

- the Group controls the timing of the reversal & thmporary difference, and
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- it is probable that this difference will not reveiis the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offsetldgally enforceable right to offset current tagets and liabilities
exists and if they relate to income taxes leviedhgysame tax authority.
As the contribution based on companies’ value ad2MAE (Cotisation sur la Valeur Ajoutée des Entreprjses
is considered as a component of income taxes,elegant calculation methods generate temporargrdifices

for which a deferred tax liability of 1.5% of thalue is recorded.

14 Information by segment

As required by IFRS 8, “Operating Segments”, segnr&@ormation for the Group is presented in accomda
with the business segments identified in the irgteraports that are regularly reviewed by generahagement
in order to allocate resources and assess fingmerédrmance.

The Group’s activities are conducted through thmesiness segments: Vinyl Products, Industrial Cbhalsiand
Performance Products. The directors of the busisegments report directly to the Chairman and C&@,
Group’s chief operating decision-maker as defingdhe standard, and are in regular contact with tuinthe

purpose of discussing their segments’ operatinigipgtfinancial results, forecasts and plans.

e Vinyl Products includes the following business sni€hlorochemicals-PVC, Vinyl compounds and
downstream converting (Pipes and Profiles). Frome 2011, this segment is divided into two business
units: Chlorochemicals-PVC and Innovative Vinylshigh comprises Pipes and Profiles, Vinyl
compounds and CPVC which was previously part of @orochemicals-PVC business unit. Vinyl
products are used in areas such as constructiorciaildengineering, and also in water treatment,

healthcare, domestic hygiene, the automobile sectdrelectric equipment.

* Industrial Chemicals brings together the followlngsiness units: Acrylics, Specialty Acrylic Polyrser
PMMA, Thiochemicals, Fluorochemicals, Hydrogen Ré&e and Emulsions. Industrial Chemicals
products are used in numerous industrial sectoth &8 ink and paint, healthcare and hygiene, the
environment, refrigeration, oil and gas, productiminpaper pulp, animal feed, electronics and the

automobile sector.

« Performance Products groups the following businests: Technical Polymers, Specialty Chemicals
and Functional Additives. Performance Products wged in a variety of sectors from transport to
sporting equipment, oil extraction to renewablergias, cosmetics to medical equipment, construction

to household electrical goods.

Functional and financial activities which cannotdiectly allocated to operational activities (rfutacertain

research costs and central costs) are broughtiegender a Corporate section.
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15 Cash flow statements

Cash flows in foreign currencies are translated éros using the average exchange rates of eaidd p€ash
flow statements exclude foreign exchange differenadsing from the translation into euros of asseid
liabilities recognized in balance sheets denomthateforeign currencies at the end of the perioxcéet for
cash and cash equivalents). In consequence, @as$ dannot be recalculated on the basis of the ats@hown

in the balance sheet.

16 Share-based payments

In application of IFRS 2 “Share-based payments8, stock options and free shares granted to managemd

certain Group employees are measured at theivditie at the date of grant, which generally cormesis to the
date of the Board of Directors’ meeting that grdrttee stock options and free shares.

The fair value of the options is calculated usihg Black & Scholes model, adjusted, in the caselahs

awarded from 2011, for an illiquidity cost due toetnon-transferability of instruments; the expeise
recognized in personnel expenses on a straighbhses over the period from the date of grant eodate from
which the options can be exercised.

The fair value of rights under free share grantsesponds to the opening market price of the shamebe day
of the Board of Directors’ meeting that decidestba grant, adjusted for dividends not received rduthe

vesting period and, in the case of plans awardech 2011, for an illiquidity cost related to the iper of non-

transferability. The expense recognized also refléwe probability that the presence condition Wl fulfilled.

This expense is included in personnel expensesstraight-line basis over the vesting period ofrigats.

17 Earnings per share

Earnings per share corresponds to the divisiorebfmtome (Group share) by the weighted averagebruof
ordinary shares in circulation since the starhefyear.

Diluted earnings per share corresponds to theidivisf net income (Group share) by the weighted imemof
ordinary shares, both of these figures being agljlisi take account of the effects of all dilutivegntial
ordinary shares.

The effect of dilution is thus calculated takingaent of stock options and grants of free shardmetissued.

18 Discontinued operations and assets held for sale

A discontinued operation is defined, according”RBR$ 5, as a component of the Group’s activity diidier has
been disposed of, or is classified as held for aatewhich represents a separate major line ohbasior

geographical area of operations that forms paat ©ihigle coordinated disposal plan.
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The income statement, cash flow statement and talsimeet items relating to discontinued operatioas
presented in a specific note to the financial stetgs for the current financial year, with compiaest for the

previous year.

The Group presents, for the financial year in qoaestassets and liabilities of continuing operagian the
standard manner, to which assets and liabilitiediedontinued operations and assets held for sel@dded.
These assets and liabilities are not offset butratiker presented respectively in two specific hedasheet
captions. The balance sheet of the previous fihgeiar is not modified.

The Group presents, for the financial year in goasind the previous financial year, the incoméestent of
continuing operations in the standard manner, tichvh single amount representing the income oradtss tax

of discontinued operations is added.

For the two financial years considered, the Grougsents the cash flow statement without distingngsh
between continuing operations and discontinued afjpeis. Disclosures regarding the cash flows of

discontinued operations are nevertheless providedspecific note to the financial statements.

19 Main accounting and financial indicators

The main performance indicators used are as follows

. Operating income:this includes all income and expenses of contingipgrations other than
financial result, equity in income of affiliatescaiimcome taxes;

e Other income and expensesthese correspond to a limited number of well-idedi non-recurring
items of income and expense of a particularly nigt@ature that the Group presents separatelysin it
income statement in order to facilitate understagdif its recurring operational performance. These
items of income and expense notably include:

» impairment losses in respect of property, plant@qgipment and intangible assets,

» gains or losses on sale of assets, acquisitiors,cnsgative goodwill on acquisitions and the
valuation difference on inventories between thair f/alue at the acquisition date and their
production cost,

» large restructuring and environmental expenses twkould hamper the interpretation of
recurring operating income (including substantialdifications to employee benefit plans and
the effect of onerous contracts),

» expenses related to litigation and claims or megmages, whose nature is not directly related
to ordinary operations;

* Recurring operating income:this is calculated as the difference between operamcome and other
income and expenses as previously defined;

e Adjusted net income:this corresponds to “Net income — Group share” stépli for the “Group share”
of the following items:

» other income and expenses, after taking accoutieafax impact of these items,

30



2011 Half -Year Financial Report
Free translation for information purposes only

ARKermA

The world is our inspiration

» income and expenses from taxation of an exceptinaglre, the amount of which is deemed
significant,
» netincome of discontinued operations;

« EBITDA: this corresponds to recurring operating incomeeiased by depreciation and amortization;

« Working capital: this corresponds to the difference between invésgpaccounts receivable, other
receivables and prepaid expenses, income tax addle and other current financial assets on the one
hand and accounts payable, other creditors andueddiabilities, income tax liabilities and other
current financial liabilities on the other handheEe items are classified in current assets ahilitiies
in the consolidated balance sheet;

e Capital employed: this is calculated by aggregating the net carryamgounts of intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment, equity affiliate @stments and loans, other investments, other non-
current assets (excluding deferred tax assetsyvarking capital;

< Net debt: this is the difference between current and nonenrdebt and cash and cash equivalents.
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C. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Impact of seasonality

ARKEMA's standard pattern of business shows sedsgpredfects. Various characteristics contributetb@se
effects:

e demand for products manufactured by ARKEMA is gafigrweaker in the summer months (July-
August) and in December, notably as a result of dlesvdown in industrial activity during these
months, particularly in France and Southern Europe;

« in some of ARKEMA's businesses, particularly thoserving the refrigeration, construction and
coatings markets, the level of sales is generalippdr in the first half of the year than in the @ed
half; and

e major maintenance turnarounds at ARKEMA's produtiiants tend to take place in the second half of
the year rather than in the first half.

Seasonality effects observed in the past are re#ssarily representative of future trends, but teyld have a
material influence on the changes in results ankiwg capital between the different quarters of timancial
year. Revenues from ordinary activities earned eaasonal, cyclical or occasional basis duringaritial year
are neither recognized in advance nor deferredtatiin reporting dates unless it would be appropria
recognize them in advance or defer them at the-gedr

2 Information by business segment

Operating income and assets are allocated betwgsndss segments prior to inter-segment adjustmBates

prices between segments approximate market prices.
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1st half 2011

il f Industrial Performance
(In millions of euros) Vinyl Products Chemicals Products Corporate  Group Total
Non-Group sales 631 1,889 976 10 3,506
Inter segment sales 35 85 10 -
Total sales 666 1,974 986 10
Recurring operating income 27) 385 128 (22) 464
Other income and expenses 1) (6) - ?3) (20)
Operating income (28) 379 128 (25) 454
Equity in income of affiliates 9 - 1 - 10
Details of certain significant non-cash expenses by
segment:
Depreciation and amortization (29) (69) (44) 1) (143)
Asset impairment charges - - - - -
Provisions 9 3) 6 13
EBITDA 454 172 (21) 607
Intangible assets and property, plant, and equipmen 34 54 42 8 138
additions
Of which additions of an exceptional nature 6 - - 9
1st half 2010

- Industria Performanc
(In millions of euros) Vinyl Products Chemicals Products Corporate  Group Total
Non-Group sales 569 1,515 820 9 2,913
Inter segment sales 29 70 8 -
Total sales 598 1,585 828 9
Recurring operating income (35) 202 85 (16) 236
Other income and expenses 1) 2 - 1) 4
Operating income (36) 200 85 a7) 232
Equity in income of affiliates 6 - 1 - 7
Details of certain significant non-cash expenses by
segment:
Depreciation and amortization (28) (69) (45) - (142)
Asset impairment charges - 1) - - Q)
Provisions 8 21 2) 13 40
EBITDA 8) 272 130 (16) 378
Intangible assets and property, plant, and equipmen 20 57 43 3 123
additions
Of which additions of an exceptional nature 7 3 - 10
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3 Information by geographical area

Non-Group sales are presented on the basis ofthgrgphical location of customers.

1st half 2011 France Rest of NAFTA (1) Asia Rest of the  Total

(In millions of euros) Europe world

Non-Group sales 475 1,226 993 685 127 3,506

1st half 2010 France Rest of NAFTA (1) Asia Rest of the  Total
Europe world

(In millions of euros)

Non-Group sales 419 1,020 853 501 120 2,913

(1) NAFTA: United States, Canada, Mexico

4 Other income and expenses

1st half 2011 1st half 2010
(In millions of euros) Expenses  Income  Net Expenses  Income  Net
Restructuring and environmental charges (5) 1 (4 - 1 1
Goodwill impairment charges - - - - - -
Asset impairment charges (other than
goodwill) - - - - - -
Litigation and claims - - - (4) - (4)
Gains (losses) on sales and purchases of
assets (6) - (6) (12) 11 (1)
Other - - - - - -
Total other income and expenses (11) 1 (10) (16) 12 (4)

In the first half of 2011, gains and losses on saled purchases of assets comprise the costsdratate

acquisition of Total's photocure and coatings redinsinesses (see note C7, Business combinations).

In the first half of 2010, net expenses for litigatand claims mainly relate to events arising @& and 2009.
The €1 million loss on sales of assets concernsiisitign of some of the activities of The Dow Cheati
Company in the US. The transaction generated negaoodwill of €11 million. Expenses and the stock

valuation difference between the fair value at Heguisition date and the production cost amounted t

€(12) million.
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5 Adjusted net income

Net income - Group share may be reconciled to &atjuset income as follows:

(In millions of euros) Notes 1st half 2011 1st half 2010
Net income - Group share 335 159
Other income and expenses (C4) 10 4
Taxes on other income and expenses (1) (5)
Exceptional taxation - -
Discontinued operations - -
Adjusted net income 344 158
6 Income taxes

The income tax expense is broken down as follows:

(In millions of euros) 1st half 2011 1st half 2010
Current income taxes (112) (75)
Deferred income taxes (2) 8
Total income taxes (113) (67)

The income tax expense amounts to €113 millior0aiuhe 2011, including €8 million for the CVAE (cpaned
with €67 million at 30 June 2010, including €5 il for the CVAE).

7 Business combinations

On 1 July 2011, ARKEMA finalized its acquisitionrfan enterprise value of €550 million of two of @kd
specialty chemicals businesses: coatings resirsy(&alley and Cook Composites Polymers), and photc
resins (Sartomer). Based on 2010 figures, thesebtyeiness lines will contribute annual sales inrdgion of

€750 million once included in the ARKEMA consolidat.

This acquisition will make Arkema a worldwide leadie the coatings resins market and is a perfagtiation
of the group’s strategy to develop its specialtgibesses. Following integration of the acrylic bess, this

latest transaction offers significant potential goowth and synergies.
The expenses incurred have been recorded at €d6milee note C4 Other income and expenses).

If the acquisition had taken place at 1 Januaryl2@ilwould have generated additional sales of exiprately
€440 million in the first half of 2011.
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Since the information required for initial recogoit of the acquisition was being analyzed by ther8oof

Directors at the date of finalization of the finaicstatements, the Group is unable to determireathount of

goodwill resulting from the operation, the fair walof the total consideration transferred, andbiesakdown by

nature.

8 Earnings per share

Earnings per share and diluted earnings per shangrasented below:

1st half 2011

1st half 2010

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 61,820,8 60,789,944
Dilutive effect of stock options 666,976 4,745
Dilutive effect of free share grants 99,558 8,539
Weighted average number of potential ordinary share 62,287,376 60,803,228

Earnings per share is determined below:

1st half 2011

1st half 2010

Earnings per share (€) 5.45 2.62
Diluted earnings per share (€) 5.38 2.61
Adjusted net income per share (€) 5.59 2.60
Diluted adjusted net income per share (€) 5.52 2.60

At 30 June 2011, all outstanding stock option plaad a dilutive effect, except for the plans awdrithe2011

which were ultimately non-dilutive.

9 Intangible assets

In the first half of 2011, acquisitions of intanlgitassets amounted to €9 million (€11 million ie fhist half of

2010).

10 Property, plant & equipment

In the first half of 2011, capital expenditure aoerty, plant and equipment amounted to €128 onilli

(€111 million in the first half of 2010). The Groagso sold or scrapped property, plant and equipmvéh total

gross value of €61 million (€54 million in the fifsalf of 2010).
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11 Inventories

The gross amount of the Group’s inventories rosenf£942 million at 31 December 2010 to €1,136 onillat
30 June 2011.
In the first half of 2011, the Group recognizedet imcrease of €4 million in impairment of invenes. This

compared to a net decrease of €5 million in impairhof inventories in the first half of 2010.

12 Shareholders’ equity

At 31 December 2010, Arkema S.A.’s share capitabamed to €615 million and was composed of 61,498,7

shares with a nominal value of 10 euros.

On 30 June 2011, the Group carried out a capitabase of €3 million following the exercise of 3B&3 stock
options. Following this operation, Arkema S.A.’sash capital was increased to €618 million dividetbi
61,843,827 shares.

During the first half of 2011, the company alloche32,200 treasury shares to employees.

The shareholders’ general meeting of 24 May 204dptadl a resolution proposing to distribute a dinilef €1

per share, or a total amount of €61 million, inpet of the 2010 financial year.

13 Provisions and other non-current liabilities

13.1 Other non-current liabilities

Other non-current liabilities amount to €37 milliah30 June 2011 as against €36 million at 31 Déeer2010.

13.2 Provisions

Pensions and other
employee benefit

Environmental

(In millions of euros) obligations  contingencies  Restructuring Other Total
At 31 December 2010 352 198 100 121 771
Increases in provisions 11 1 2 14 28
Reversals from provisions on use (8) (6) (18) (8) (40)
Reversals of unused provisions 3) - Q) (2) (5)
Changes in scope - - - - -
Translation adjustments (6) (6) Q) 3) (16)
Other (17)* - - 13 (4)
Assets held for sale - - - - -
At 30 June 2011 329 187 82 136 734

(*) including actuarial gains and losses for tleeiqd
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In addition, certain provisions are covered by earrent assets (receivables, deposits or pensgais)s

Pensions and oth
employee benefi Environmenta

(In millions of euros) obligations  contingencie: Restructuring Other Total
Total provisions at 30 June 2011 329 187 82 136 734
Portion of provisions covered by receivables

or deposits 1 35 - 4 40
Deferred tax asset related to amounts cove

by the Total indemnity - 19 - 3 22

Net pension assets -

Provisions at 30 June 2011 net of non-
current assets

328 133 82 129 672

13.3 Provisions for pensions and similar benefits

At 30 June 2011, provisions for pensions and simhiémefits are comprised of pension benefit obilogest for
€223 million (€239 million at 31 December 2010)altlecare plans for €53 million (€56 million at 3&mber
2010), long-service awards for €44 million (€47lioil at 31 December 2010) and Group pre-retirerpéarts

for €9 million (€10 million at 31 December 2010).

Certain defined-benefit plans in the Netherlandsewaverfunded at 30 June 2011, but no net assebean
recognized due to the limits imposed by paragrapbfdAS 19 and IFRIC 14. The current overfundingtbese

Dutch plans is not expected to be reimbursed tadimepany nor set against future contributions.

ARKEMA applied the following discount rates at 3thé 2011:

Pension benefit and healthcare plan commitments ofeur USA
At 30 June 2011 4.80% - 5.50% 5.50%
At 31 December 2010 4.50% - 5.20% 5.25%
Long-service awards Europe

At 30 June 2011 4.50%

At 31 December 2010 3.60% - 5.17%

The present value of defined benefit obligationthatend of 2010 was adjusted at 30 June 2011ehahkis of
sensitivity analysis tables prepared by the Groepigrnal actuaries in the context of the full y2@t0 closing,

to take account of the change in interest rates theehalf-year. The fair value of plan assets reessessed on

the basis of new valuations at 30 June 2011.
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The changes in discount rates and the remeasurerhplain assets have the following effects at 3te2011:

Remeasurement of plan

(In millions of euros) Changes in discount rates assets
Actuarial gains and losses recognized in shareholdg

equity

Actuarial gain (loss) related to pensions and healte plans 10 3

Benefit obligations recognized in balance sheet hidities
Pension and other long-term benefits a7) 4)

Income or expenses recognized in the income statembhe
Other employee benefits 3 -

13.4 Provisions for environmental contingencies

Provisions for environmental contingencies are ge@ed to cover expenses related to soil and wiatee
clean-up, mainly:
- in France for €97 million (€98 million at 31 Deuber 2010)
- in the United States for €68 million (€78 milliat 31 December 2010), of which €54 million in
respect of former industrial sites covered 100%Hhy Total Group indemnity (receivable recognized
in “other non-current assets” for an amoun€8% million and €19 million of deferred taxes) (sede

C19.2 Off balance sheet commitments/Commitmentsived).

13.5 Restructuring provisions

Restructuring provisions are mainly in respectasitmucturing measures in France for €71 million5(&dllion
at 31 December 2010).

14 Contingent liabilities

14.1 Environment

ARKEMA's business activities are subject to coniiachanging local, national and international regions on
the environment and safety, which entail meetingrdasingly complex and restrictive requirementsthiis
regard, these activities can involve a risk of ARKAs liability being called upon, particularly irespect of
clean-up of sites and industrial safety.

Taking account of the information available, agreata signed with Total, and the provisions for emwnental
contingencies recognized, ARKEMA’s management aarsi that the environmental liabilities identifiadthis
point are valued and recognized to the best of tkedwledge in the financial statements. Howevelavfrs,
regulations or government policy in respect of emwnental matters were to change, ARKEMA's obligas

could change, which could lead to additional costs.
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Clean-up of sites
The competent authorities have made, are makingayr in the future make specific demands that theu@r
rehabilitate or control emissions at certain sikeg it is currently operating, or that it operateddisposed of in

the past, at neighboring sites or at sites wheresttoup stored or disposed of waste.

Sites currently in operation:

ARKEMA has many sites of which a certain number gnabably polluted in view of their age and thegarof
activities that are carried out on them, or thateaearried out on them in the past. As regardsetlséss, certain
situations have been identified and ARKEMA has adse carried out certain clean-up work, or otherwise
developed action plans and recognized provisiomsdar to cover future clean-up work.

However, in the light of (i) the uncertainties oviee technical means to be implemented, (ii) pakigsues that
are unknown, (iii) uncertainties over the actualdirequired for remediation compared with the esti time
(e.g. “pump and treat”), and (iv) potential changresegulations, the possibility that the expertes the Group
will incur will be higher than the amounts coverieygl provisions cannot be excluded. These potenkieéss
costs relate mainly to the sites in Calvert Citynifgdd States), Carling (France), Giinzburg (Germadajrie
(France), Lannemezan (France), Mont (France), &iBénite (France), Riverview (United States), Rdéen
(the Netherlands), Saint-Auban (France) and SaantsF(France), and could adversely affect the Goup’
business, results and financial condition.

As regards the site of Saint-Auban, different legadceedings brought against Arkema France have bee
grouped together (merging of proceedings - “jonttil® procédures") with the Nanterre correctionaircoAn

administrative procedure was also initiated in 2008cerning the Spinetta site (Italy - Arkema srl).

Closed industrial sites (Former industrial sites):

Total directly or indirectly took over the closeddustrial sites at the date of the Spin-Off of Arkes
Businesses.

14.2 Litigation, claims and proceedings in progress

14.2.1Antitrust litigation

The Group is involved in a number of proceedingthi United States, Canada and Europe allegingutiools

of antitrust laws relating to cartel behavior.

To cover the risks associated with the proceedimgjse United States and Europe, which arose poior
completion of the Spin-Off of Arkema’s BusinessEstal S.A. and one of its subsidiaries have granted
indemnities for the benefit of Arkema S.A. and Arlee Amériques SAS, the main terms of which are desdr

in note C28, “Off-balance sheet commitments”, ® tbnsolidated financial statements at 31 Dece@b&0,

which can be found in Chapter 28.2 of ARKEMA's 2(Réference Document.

Some of the European Commission proceedings anently under appeal by Arkema France before the

European Union’s General Court or the European Gufulustice.
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Proceedings carried out by the European Commission
Arkema France currently remains a party to seyamateedings being carried out by the European Cssion
alleging violations of the rules of EU competitilanv restricting anticompetitive agreements.
The appeal proceedings by Arkema France befor&tinepean Union’s General Court following the Euraipe
Commission’s decisions in the heat stabilizers easestill pending.
The appeal proceedings concerning the MCAA casestilfeongoing before the European Court of Justice
following the General Court’s judgement issued 002.
In the first half of 2011, the European Union’s @exl Court issued its decision in the sodium ch@nd
methacrylates cases. In the former, the Court gptted Commission’s decision and in the lattereifuced
Arkema France'’s fine from €219.1 million to €118n8lion. At 30 June 2011, since the European Corsinis
was entitled to appeal, Arkema France did not reizagits 10% share of the reimbursement as requiyeithe
Total indemnity.
In July 2011, the European Union’'s General Couwsuésl its ruling in the hydrogen peroxide case, lwhic

confirmed the Commission's decision.

In addition to the proceedings carried out by theogean Commission, it cannot be ruled out that suuts for
damages are filed by third parties claiming to m@ims of the violations in relation to which findmve been
imposed by the European Commission.

There were no significant developments in the fiadf of 2011 in connection with the claim for coemsation
lodged with the Dortmund (Germany) Tribunal by @abamage Claim (CDC) Hydrogen Peroxyde SA as a

result of Arkema France’s participation in the fogkn peroxide cartel.

In June 2011, a further claim was made against rAek&rance before the Amsterdam court by an affilaft
CDC (CDC Project 13 S.A.), concerning sodium chierdhese proceeding are identical to those igitidty
CDC in Germany for hydrogen peroxide.

Given the elements at its disposal, the Group tscoorently able to estimate the total amount & dhlims
liable to be definitively held against it by thengpetent jurisdiction after exercise of any recowsgailable, and

so has not recognized any provisions in this rdspec

Proceedingsin the United States and Canada
a) US civil actions

In 2008 and early 2009, the appeals court rulatittie trial courts erred when they granted classfication of
direct purchaser classes in the hydrogen peroxigiéemand in the plastics additives matter; theeafspcourt

remanded each of those cases back to the triatscdor further proceedings consistent with propkss
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certification standards. Following those appelldezisions, the trial court finally approved thetlsetent
agreements that Arkema Inc. and Arkema France awgbarexecuted with the direct purchaser class in
Hydrogen Peroxide and with the direct purchasessctd MMA/PMMA products.

In the plastics additives direct purchaser action,remand and after a full hearing, the court deritee
plaintiffs’ request for class certification. Plaffg’ request for reconsideration of the court’snidg of class
certification was rejected by the trial court. Duyithe first half of 2011, the plaintiffs announcet they

intended to continue proceedings individually, damore restricted class of products than in th&lraction.

During the first quarter of 2010, Arkema Inc. reagla signed settlement agreement with the indpecthasers
of hydrogen peroxide from five American states whiad initiated action alleging violation of statampetition
laws. Under this agreement, which has now receomdt approval, Arkema Inc. will make no payments a

will provide limited cooperation if the case prodedo trial against other defendants.

b) Canadian civil actions

In Canada, a number of civil actions alleging Miolas of Canadian competition laws concerning hgero
peroxide products were filed in Quebec, Ontario 8nidish Columbia in 2005 and 2006. The trial coiurt
Ontario has certified a class of direct and indingarchasers. Arkema SA, Arkema Inc. and Arkemaadan
Inc.’s request for leave to appeal that decisios denied in June 2010. The plaintiffs and the ri#dats have
reached an agreement on May 31, 2011 in principgettle all of the pending Canadian actions fpayment of
CAD100,000 and some specific cooperation, subgconditions that include the approval of the countall
three jurisdictions in which the cases are pendiiig Ontario court has set an approval hearingségtember
of 2011.

14.2.20ccupational illness

In the manufacture of its products, the Group @sekhas used toxic or hazardous substances. Déspisafety
and monitoring procedures that have been instit@edsroup level and for each production site, Group
employees may have been exposed to such substamtesay develop specific pathologies as a resusuoh

exposure.

In this respect, like most industrial companiesthia past, the Group has used a variety of insigatr heat-
proofing materials containing asbestos in its potida facilities. Consequently, certain employeesyrhave
been exposed to such materials before they wetrglig eliminated and replaced with substitute jicis.

At its French sites, the Group anticipated the laguy provisions applicable to asbestos (Decrees 36-97
and 96-98 of 7 February 1996 and Decree No. 96-b123 December 1996). The Group made an inverabry
asbestos-containing building materials within iteemises, notified employees of the results of these
investigations and took the collective and indiatyrotective measures required by the applicables)

However, claims for occupational illness relatedpsst asbestos exposure have been filed again€rtwgp,

42



2011 Half -Year Financial Report

Free translation for information purposes onl
ARKermMA purp Y

The world is our inspiration

mostly for periods before 1980. Given the lateneyiqnd of asbestos-related pathologies, a large eurab
claims for occupational iliness are likely to blediin the years ahead.
The Group has recognized provisions to cover thiesrof employer liability claims related to notdieases of

occupational illness.

14.2.30ther litigation and claims and contingent liatiet

* Arkema France
In 1995, the company Gasco brought a claim for dg®against EIf Atochem (the former name of Arkema
France) before the court in Ghent (Belgium) in ee$pof an alleged breach of contract and breachnof
exclusivity agreement. At first instance, Gascaaot®d a judgment against Atofina for payment of&080 by
way of damages for breach of contract (paymentat sum has been made) but its claim for breactmef
exclusivity agreement was dismissed. Appeal pracgsdchave been pending before the Ghent Court peap
since 1999, and no developments have arisen diece lHaving regard to the weak basis of the aliegatmade
against it and the defenses available to the Grthg Group’s view as the matter currently standthad the
amount of the provision made for this matter in dleeounts is sufficient. No significant developnseatose on
this case in the first half of 2011.

Arkema France supplies various products for theilmgaf items used in a number of European cousiriehe

manufacture of sanitary treatment facilities. Thpseducts are subject to inspection on the papgroved
laboratories which must certify their conformitytivithe applicable sanitary regulations. Arkema Eeahas an
interpretation of the regulations applicable in rfem that diverges from that of a French laboratmy the
public authorities as regards regulatory clearamd&ance of a product, even though this produapjsroved in
other European Union countries. The Group takesvibe that this problem is essentially administratin

nature. However, the possibility that users miglgtksto attach liability to Arkema France as thepdiep cannot
be excluded. In the event that such claims wereessful, the costs of replacement of the produatsthe

damages that could be claimed could prove to lrerety high.

Under the terms of a services agreement, ArkemiacErhas the effluent produced by its industrialrapiens at
Lacq and Mourenx treated by Total E&P France, wiiak specific authorization to inject this efflueinigether
with effluent it produces itself, into a cavity el Crétacé 4000. The French customs authorit®ged a tax
demand of €6.7 million to Total, covering the yea@93 to 2006, for non-payment of the French gdraraon
polluting activities {axe générale sur les activités polluantes TGAP) which, according to the authorities,
should be applied to these injections of effluémilowing the authorities’ rejection of Total's agrd at the end
of 2008, Total initiated a case in the court aftfinstance against them in early 2009, seekingaikation of the
tax demand. Total's main argument is that the tiges are not carried out in a context subject kassified
Facilities regulations and are thus not subjedhe&o TGAP. The court's decision issued in April 20&jected
Total's principal claim while acknowledging thas ibwn effluents should be exempt from the TGAP. Egav,
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the possibility cannot be fully ruled out thatila¢ end of the proceeding, Total may be requirguhatoall or part
of the TGAP assessed, of which ARKEMA could belkalor a portion.

In 2005, 260 employees and former employees oPtbae-Bénite site made a claim for damages wighLiyon
employee claims court€bnseils de prud’hommgfor alleged non-compliance with the terms of themicals
industry branch agreement over break times. Thienalats consider that, given the manner in whichkwier
organized and structured on this site, the breaktgd to them does not allow them to be released &l work
and to be able to freely go about their persontiraf The claim for compensation amounts to €5iian.
Arkema France has contested these claims. A judgissoed on 24 June 2008 fully rejected all of the
employees’ claims. The employees appealed thisideciThe Lyon appeal court is expected to rul¢hencase
by the end of 2011, and a provision has been rézediin the financial statements for an amount thetGroup

considers adequate.

In the first half of 2011, 98 former employees ofkdma France who left the company under the early
retirement system for asbestos workers brought gediogs before employee claims courts, claiming
compensation for losses of income caused by tlegiadure under this system.

The conditions for departure under the early retest system and the amount of the allocation recelwy
beneficiaries - the subject of the current litigatt are defined by French law.

These proceedings follow rulings by the Paris awmddBaux appeal courts awarding compensation todiorm
employees of other companies who also left thdis jander the same system. The damages awarded,varie
ranging up to the full amount of salary. In a rgliof 11 May 2010, the labour chamber of the CofiGa@ssation
partly overturned the decisions by the Paris andi8aux appeal courts, judging that no compensatoitd be
claimed for loss of revenue resulting from departunder the early retirement system. This judgerhastsince
been confirmed several times. The court did howaeeept the existence for these employees of agioej of
anxiety eligible for compensation.

For Arkema France, in the cases currently in pmcego former employees have so far received auiade
ruling by the Forbach employee claims court. Tietaim concerning the prejudice of anxiety was regdgchbut

the court agreed to order partial compensatioritfeross of salary resulting from departure untlerCAATA
system, whereas the Court of Cassation takes thesiip position. Arkema France has appealed thesisidns.
The Martigues employee claims court took a contraeyv to the labour chamber of the Court of Cassain
rulings of 23 February 2011, ordering Arkema Fratmecompensate five former employees for economic
prejudice, and also finding against Arkema Franeceha question of the prejudice of anxiety. ArkeRrance
has appealed these decisions. The rest are expedtednext few months.

It is likely that other former employees of Arkenkdance who benefited from the asbestos-relatedy earl
retirement system, or other employees who may Hasen exposed to asbestos, may themselves claim
compensation before an employee claims court ®ptiejudice of anxiety. In June 2011 for exampéesea on
this precedent, 95 former employees of the Sairttafiuestablishment began action to seek damagdbdor

prejudice of anxiety.
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A provision has been recognized in the financialeshents in respect of the litigations currentlypiogress, for

an amount that the Group considers adequate.

In 2009, the Council of State cancelled the deniddy the Lyon administrative court confirming thdimgs
against Arkema France, ordering the company to ¢etephe pollution diagnosis for part of the Sdons site
and propose preventive or remedial work. Howevaring proceedings before the Council of State,Rhefect
of the Rhone region issued a new decision in 260 &sncerning the Saint Fons site, ordering ArlkeeRrance
to carry out a quality monitoring on undergroundtevaand propose a pollution management plan. Arkema
France considers that this decision, which it hpgealed, should also be ultimately cancelled. If, rloe
possibility that rehabilitation of the site affedtby the pollution will finally be the responsiljliof Arkema
France cannot be ruled out. Arkema France hasdrieagun legal action against Rhodia Chimie, thevipus

operator of the site.

» Arkema Srl
In a criminal investigation related to the Spinedite in Italy and concerning a certain number ahagers and
directors of Arkema Srl, the Judge ruled in Jun&l2that applications by third parties to bring tolaims for
damages were valid.
Given the circumstances, Arkema Srl considers stilstoo early to determine the precise naturd artent of

the potential liability of the managers or diresteited in this criminal investigation.

« CECA
There were no significant developments during it falf of 2011 in the litigation between Intradind CECA
over CECA's alleged liability for pollution of lanpurchased by Intradis.

e Arkema Inc.
In the United States, the Group is currently inealin a substantial number of proceedings in varmwurts. No
notable developments arose in the first half of2ilthe proceedings concerning claims by thirdiparelating
to (i) alleged exposure to asbestos on the Graif@s, or (ii) exposure to products containing asimeand sold
by former subsidiaries of the Group in the Unit¢at& and elsewhere. When they are not covereashiyance
policies, provisions have been made for these pdings in an amount which the Group considersdafit.
However, due to the continuing uncertainties athéoutcome of these proceedings, the Group isasoat the
date of these financial statements, in a positi@ving regard to the information available to dt estimate the
total amount of the claims that might finally behefd against it by the various competent courteratte
exhaustion of any avenues of appeal.
On 5 August 2010, Rohm and Haas served Arkemaahmt Arkema France with a petition in the Districiu@
of Harris County, Texas. The petition asserts vwariclaims against Arkema associated with the Dadt, P
Texas Capacity Reservation Contract, MMA Swap Agrert, and MMA Supply Agreement. The claims are in

particular for breaches of contract.
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On 1 October 2010 an Amended Complaint sought tmitate Arkema Inc.’s right under the Capacity
Reservation Contract as of 1 April 2014. On 21 Ap@i11, the Court in Texas issued an order granirkgma
Inc.’s motion for summary judgment on one counthie complaint, holding, in relevant part, that @apacity
Reservation Contract “remains in full force andeeff and that Arkema Inc.’s purchase rights underhs
contract “shall continue for the life of the Dearl Facility.” Rohm and Haas has sought permis§iom the
trial court to appeal that decision.

On 13 August 2010, Rohm and Haas filed a Noticénbitration and Statement of Claim with the America
Arbitration Association in New York. The arbitraticlaim seeks relief from the alleged failure okéma to
enter into a replacement swap agreement for MMA.

As of 30 June 2011 the Texas case and the AAAratlmith described above were proceeding simultarigous

*  Arkema Quimica Limitada
In the tax litigation between the Brazilian goveemhand Arkema Quimica Limitada, the company resgtiv
confirmation during the first half of 2011 that thelge would accept a guarantee in the form of<h akeposit
and a pledge of other assets for the current podfdhe liability. If the tax authorities give fihconsent to the
terms for payment of the liability subject to amyesnly an amount of 9.2 million reais or arountiréillion at
30 June 2011 would be concerned by an appeal beéferecourts, which Arkema considers would have

reasonable chances of success.

15 Debt

Group net debt amounted to €265 million at 30 R01klL, taking account of cash and cash equivaldnts o

€549 million; it is mainly denominated in euros.

The Group has the following instruments:
* In October 2010, the Group issued a €500 milliondbthat will mature on 25 October 2017, with a fixe
coupon of 4.00%.

e On 31 March 2006, the Group put in place a multrency syndicated credit facility in a maximum amb
of €1,100 million, with an initial duration of fivgears, maturing on 31 March 2011. In February 200 credit
facility was extended a first time until 31 MarcB12, for an amount of €1,094 million. In Februaf08, the
credit facility was extended a second time untilN8drch 2013, for an amount of €1,049 million. Flpabn 26
July 2011, the Group reduced the total value ofttiedit facility to €300 million.

The purpose of the credit facility is to finanoe the form of drawings and bank guarantees, thei@sayeneral
corporate purposes; the credit facility provides ffoepayment in certain cases, including a charfgeontrol
over ARKEMA,; should this clause be triggered byeader, it could lead to prepayment and cancellatiotime

commitments of such a lender and incorporates:
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(i) information undertakings, including a represdiuin pertaining to the continued validity and enéability
against the guarantors of the indemnities grangedidial S.A. and certain entities of Total as dieat in note
C28, Off-balance sheet commitments, in the conatdidl financial statements for the year ended 3Xkber
2010;

(ii) standard undertakings for this type of agreethéncluding, undertakings relating, among othgengs, to
certain restrictions in connection with (but naniied to) the granting of securities, the completid merger or
restructuring transactions, the sale or purchasaseéts and the Group’s debt. Depending on the sash
restrictions will not apply to ordinary operatiomsto transactions involving amounts below certanesholds;
(iii) a financial undertaking: ARKEMA undertakes maintain a ratio of consolidated net debt to otidated
EBITDA (tested twice a year) of less than 3.

This facility was not used in 2011.

e On 26 July 2011, the Group put in place a multrency syndicated credit facility in the amount of
€700 million, with a duration of five years, matgion 26 July 2016. This credit facility is intexd® finance
the Group’s general requirements and includes aly eapayment clause in the event of certain sibunest
including a change in control of ARKEMA. It inclusle

(0 standard undertakings and commitments fortfpe of financing

(i) a financial undertaking in which ARKEMA undekes to maintain a ratio of consolidated net debt
consolidated EBITDA (tested twice a year) of ldssnt 3; this may be raised to 3.5 in the event adi@juisition

that would justify the increase, for a maximumwbtnon-consecutive test dates.
» The Group also has a securitization program foessakceivables which remain in the consolidated

accounts, representing a maximum financing of €Rdllon, used in the amount of €168 million at 30né
2011.
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15.1 Analysis of net debt by category

In millions of euros

30 June 2011

31 December 2010

Bond 495 495
Finance lease obligations 11 12
Bank loans 58 52
Other non-current debt 28 28
Non-current debt 592 587
Finance lease obligations 2 2
Syndicated credit facility 0 0
Other bank loans 194 25
Other current debt 26 7
Current debt 222 34
Debt 814 621
Cash and cash equivalents 549 527
Net debt 265 94
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15.2 Analysis of debt by currency

ARKEMA's debt is mainly denominated in euros.

In millions of euros 30 June 2011 31 December 2010
Euros 722 536
US Dollars 15 17
Chinese Yuan 70 64
Korean Won 3 1
Other 4 3
Total 814 621

15.3 Analysis of debt by maturity

The breakdown of debt, including interest costsmiajurity is as follows:

In millions of euros 30 June 2011 31 December 2010
Less than 1 year 247 56
Between 1 and 2 years 40 50
Between 2 and 3 years 37 29
Between 3 and 4 years 34 27
Between 4 and 5 years 38 28
More than 5 years 579 584
Total 975 774
16 Management of risks related to financial assetnd liabilities

ARKEMA's businesses expose it to various risks/uding market risks (risk of changes in exchanges;a

interest rates and the prices of raw materialsesmeaigy), credit risk and liquidity risk.

16.1 Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to transaction risks relaidgdreign currencies.

The Group hedges the foreign currency risk maihisoigh spot foreign currency transactions or thhoug
forward transactions over short maturities, geerait exceeding 6 months.

The fair value of the Group’s forward foreign cumcg contracts is a liability of €5 million.

The amount of foreign exchange gains and lossegnéxed in recurring operating income at 30 Junkl28 a

loss of €0.5 million (loss of €3.2 million at 30nk2010).
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The portion of foreign exchange gains and lossesesponding to interest income/expense reflectedhiy
difference between the spot exchange rate anddiveafd exchange rate is recorded in financial tesul

amounts to a positive €0.5 million at 30 June 201dh-significant at 30 June 2010).

16.2 Interest rate risk

Exposure to interest rate risk is managed by treu®s central treasury department and simple dévies are
used as hedging instruments. The Group has natehitgo any interest rate hedges at 30 June 2011.
An increase (decrease) of 1% (100 basis pointsjtémest rates would have the effect of increagtegreasing)

the interest on financial liabilities measured rabéatized cost by €1 million.

16.3 Liquidity risk

The Group’s central treasury department manageligthidity risk associated with the Group’s debt.

Liquidity risk is managed with the main objectivé ensuring renewal of the Group’s financing andthe
context of meeting this objective, optimizing theaal financial cost of the debt.

In almost all cases, Group companies obtain ti@anting from, and manage their cash with, Arkeman€e or
other Group entities that manage cash pooling mmesies.

The main circumstances in which early repaymenteomination could occur concern the syndicated itred
facility (see note C15 Debt), if the ratio of colidated net debt to consolidated EBITDA were to dyae
greater than 3. At 30 June 2011, consolidated @let kpresents 0.3 times consolidated EBITDA ferl#st 12
months.

Note C15 Debt provides details of the maturitiesetbt.

16.4 Credit risk

The Group is potentially exposed to credit riskitsraccounts receivable and as regards its bamagterparts.

The credit risk associated with accounts receivablanited because of the large number of its @omsrs and
their geographical dispersion. The Group’s genglicy for managing credit risk involves assessthg

solvency of each new customer before enteringbntginess relations: each customer is allocate@ditdimit,

which constitutes the maximum level of outstandi(rgseivables plus orders) accepted by the Groogphe
basis of the financial information obtained on thestomer and the analysis of solvency carried guthie
Group. These credit limits are revised regularigl,an any case, every time that a material chamgers in the
customer’s financial position. Customers who carofmgin a credit limit because their financial piosi is not
compatible with the Group’s requirements in terrhsavency only receive deliveries when they haaal dor
their order.

Even though the Group has incurred very few badsdiein the last number of years, it has decidedoteer all
of its accounts receivable credit risk by puttingplace a global credit insurance program. On aucotithe

statistically low bad debt rate experienced by@&meup, the rate of cover is significant. Customaith whom
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the Group wishes to continue commercial relationsvihich are not covered by this insurance areesutip

specific centralized monitoring.

In addition, the Group’s policy for recognizing bddbt provisions in respect of receivables not oedeby
credit insurance, or the portion of receivables @@ not so covered, has two components: rec&isadle
individually provided against as soon as a specifi& of loss (economic and financial difficultief the
customer in question, entry into receivership,)étcclearly identified. The Group may also recagngeneral
provisions for receivables that are overdue fohsugperiod that the Group considers that a stedistisk of loss
exists. These periods are adapted depending dusiaess Units and the geographical regions intgpres

Banking credit risk is related to financial investims, derivatives and credit facilities granteddanks. The

Group limits its exposure to credit risk by onlyésting in liquid securities with first-class conntial banks.

16.5 Risk related to raw materials and energy

The prices of certain raw materials used by ARKEM#£e highly volatile and their fluctuations lead to
significant variations in cost of production of t@eoup's products; in addition, because of the mgnae of the
Group’s requirements in terms of energy resouressiting notably from the electrically intensivetura of
certain of its manufacturing processes, ARKEMA lsoavery sensitive to changes in the price of enehg
order to limit the impact of price volatility of éhprincipal raw materials it uses, ARKEMA can dectd use
derivatives matched with existing contracts or eagotiate fixed price contracts for limited periods
Recognition of these derivatives had no impacthenihcome statement at 30 June 2011 (also no ing&A
June 2010).

17 Related parties

17.1 Transactions with non-consolidated or equity actedicompanies

Transactions between consolidated companies hareddgninated in the consolidation process. In ailiin
the normal course of business, the Group has ashetationships with certain non-consolidated camgs or

with companies which are accounted for under thetggnethod. The values involved are not significan

18 Share-based payments
18.1 Stock options

On 4 May 2011, the Board of Directors decided tbipylace two stock option plans for the benefitrembers
of the Group’s Executive Committee.
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In Plan 1, stock options will be awarded subjeca teesting period of two years, with effect frone tBoard of

Directors’ grant, and subject to compliance witlfpenance criteria expressed in terms of ROCE. IR,

stock options will be awarded subject to a vesprgod of 4 years, with effect from the Board ofdaitors’

grant, and subject to compliance with a performastgective relating to ARKEMA's average EBITDA mang
for the period 2011-2014.

The main characteristics of the outstanding stqgatloa plans at 30 June 2011 are as follows:

2006 Plan 2007 Plan 2008 Plan 2010 Plan 1 2010 P2an 2011 Plan 1 2011 Plan 2
Date of Annual General Meeting 10 May 06 10 May 06 10 May 06 15 June 09 15 June 0915 June 09 15 June 09
Date of Board of Directors’ meeting 04 July 06 14 May 07 13 May 08 10 May 10 10 May 10 4 May 11 4 May 11
Vesting period 2 years 2 years 2 years 2 years 5 years 2 years 4 years
Conservation period 4 years 4 years 4 years 4 years 5 years 4 years 4 years
Period of validity 8 years 8 years 8 years 8 years 8 years 8 years 8 years
Exercise price 28.36 44.63 36.21 30.47 30.47 68.48 68.48
Total
Number of options granted 540,000 600,000 460,000 225,000 225,000 105,000 ,0005 2,260,000
- to corporate officers: Thierry Le Hénal 55,000 70,000 52,500 35,000 35,000 29,250 29,250 6,080
- to the 10 largest beneficiaries* 181,000 217,000 169,350 104,000 104,000 75,750 505,7 926,850
Total number of options exercised 396,450 153,900 14,080 - - - - 564,430
- by corporate officers 22,000 10,000 - - - - - 32,000
- by the 10 largest beneficiaries* 171,000 79,050 9,750 - - - - 259,800
Number of options
In circulation at 1 January 2009 534,850 592,200 460,000 - - - - 1,587,050
Granted - - - - - - - -
Cancelled - 1,000 5,586 - - - - 6,586
Exercised - - - - - - - -
In circulation at 31 December 2009 534,850 591,200 454,414 - - - - 1,580,464
In circulation at 1 January 2010 534,850 591,200 454,414 - - - - 1,580,464
Granted - - - 225,000 225,000 - - 450,000
Cancelled 11,900 12,000 11,992 - - - - 35,892
Exercised 214,397 - - - - - - 214,397
In circulation at 31 December 2010 308,553 579,200 442,422 225,000 225,000 - - 1,780,1
En circulation au 1 January 2011 308,553 579,200 442,422 225,000 225,000 - - 1,780,1
Granted - - - - - 105,000 105,000 210,000
Cancelled - 2,000 1,299 5,000 5,000 - - 13,299
Exercised 182,053 153,900 14,080 - - - - 350,033
In circulation at 30 June 2011 126,500 423,300 427,043 220,000 220,000 105,000 105,000 1,626,843

* Employees who are not corporate officers of ArkéAaor any other Group company
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Valuation method
The fair value of the options granted was deterthimgng the Black & Scholes method on the basis of

assumptions, of which the main ones are as follows:

2006 2007 2008 2010 2010 2011 2011

Plan Plan Plan Plan 1 Plan 2 Plan 1 Plan 2
Volatility 22% 20% 25% 35% 32% 32% 32%
Risk-free interest rate 2.82% 3.39% 4.00% 0.34% 0.34% 1.29% 1.29%
Maturity 4 years 4 years 4 years 4 years 5 years 4years  4years
Exercise price (in euros) 28.36 44.63 36.21 30.47 30.47 68.48 68.48
Fair value of stock options (in euros) 6.29 7.89 8.99 6.69 6.67 12.73 12.73

The volatility assumption was determined on thésakobservation of historical movements in thek&EMA
share since its admission to listing, restatedcmtain non-representative days in order to beépresent the
long-term trend.

The maturity adopted for the options correspondhéqeriod of unavailability for tax purposes.

The amount of the IFRS2 expense recognized in césplestock options at 30 June 2011 was €1 million
(€1 million at 30 June 2010).

18.2 Free share grants

On 4 May 2011, the Board of Directors decided tbipwplace three performance share award schemeabldo
benefit of employees, particularly employees witbponsibilities whose exercise influences the Georgsults.
In Plan 1, intended for employees of the Groupen€h companies, the definitive grant of such perforce
shares will be subject to a vesting period of twarg, with effect from the Board of Directors’ greand subject
to compliance with performance criteria expressederms of both ARKEMA’'s EBITDA for 2011, and the
variation in the EBITDA margin compared to a paofebther manufacturers of chemicals.

In Plan 2, intended for certain Group employees,définitive grant of such performance shares béllsubject
to a vesting period of 3 years, with effect frore oard of Directors’ grant, and subject to compi@ with the
same performance criteria.

In Plan 3, intended for Group company employeesidetFrance, the definitive grant of such perforogan
shares will be subject to a vesting period of 4&yeaith effect from the Board of Directors’ graatid subject to

compliance with the same performance criteria @&lams 1 and 2.
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The main characteristics of the free share gratgin force at 30 June 2011 are as follows:

Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan
2009 2010-1 2010-2 2011-1 2011-2 2011-3
Date of Annual General Meeting 10 May 06 15 June 0¢ 15 June 0¢ 15 June 0¢ 15 June 0¢ 15 June 09
Date of Board of Directors’ meeting 12 May 09 10 May 10 10 May 10 4 May 11 4 May 11 4 May 11
Vesting period 2 years 2 years 4 years 2 years 3 years 4 years
Conservation period 2 years 2 years - 2 years 2 years
Performance condition Yes Yes® Yes® Yes® Yes® Yes®
Number of free shares granted 184,850 153,705 50,795 88,305 59,380 52,315
- to corporate officers: Thierry Le Hénaff 14,000 18,800 - 8,200 8,200 -
- to the 10 largest beneficiari8s 41,500 54,700 8,100 24,450 24,450 14,850
Number of free shares Total®
In circulation at 1 January 2009 - - - - - - 304,005
Granted 184,850 - - - - - 184,850
Cancelled 49,0067 - - - - - 90,855
Definitively granted - - - - - - 87,600
In circulation at 31 December 2009 135,850 - - - - - 310,400
In circulation at 1 January 2010 135,850 - - - - - 310,400
Granted - 153,705 50,795 - - - 204,500
Cancelled 2,500 - 638 - - - 135,561
Definitively granted - - - - - - 42,127
In circulation at 31 December 2010 133,350 153,705 50,157 - - - 337,212
In circulation at 1 January 2011 133,350 153,705 50,157 - - - 337,212
Granted - - - 88,305 59,380 52,315 200,000
Cancelled 1,150 3,220 460 355 355 - 5,540
Definitively granted 132,200 - - - - - 132,200
In circulation at 30 June 2011 0 150,485 49,697 87,950 59,025 52,315 399,472

@ Employees who are not corporate officers of Arké3Aaor any other Group company

@) Waived by the Chairman and CEO and members of teelfive Committee

® performance conditions do not apply to benefiemdf less than 100 shares

® performance conditions will apply only to the pontiof rights in excess of 80 held under all plansept for Executive
Committee members, all of whose rights will be sabje performance criteria.

® The total includes plans dating from before 2009.

The amount of the IFRS2 expense recognized in cegidree shares at 30 June 2011 is €2 millionr(@llion
at 30 June 2010).
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19 Off-balance sheet commitments
19.1 Commitments given

19.1.10ff-balance sheet commitments given in the Grooparating activities

The main commitments given are summarized in thie faelow:

In millions of euros 30 June 2011 31 December 2010
Guarantees granted 54 67

Comfort letters 0 0
Contractual guarantees 23 o5
Customs and excise guarantees 8 8

Total 85 100

Guarantees granted are mainly bank guaranteessam & local authorities and public bodies (stagereies,

environmental agencies) in respect of environmestiijations or concerning classified sites.

19.1.2Contractual commitments related to the Group’'saiieg activities

* Irrevocable purchase commitments
In the normal course of business, ARKEMA has sigmedti-year purchase agreements for raw materiats a
energy for the operational requirements of itsdgaes, in order to guarantee the security and naitgi of
supply. Signature of such contracts over periodsl db 20 years is a normal practice for companies i
ARKEMA's business sector in order to cover theiedg
These purchase commitments were valued takingaotount, on a case-by-case basis, ARKEMA's findncia
commitment to its suppliers, as certain of thesetreats include clauses which oblige ARKEMA to take
delivery of the minimum volumes as set out in tbatract or, otherwise, to pay financial compensatm the
supplier. Depending on the case, these commitnametseflected in the purchase agreements in tha fr
notice periods, indemnification to be paid to thpmier in case of early termination of the contraic“take or

pay” clauses.

The total amount of the Group’s financial commitnigers valued on the basis of the last known prized

amounts to €796 million at 30 June 2011 (see ntgtschedule below):

In millions of euros 30 June 2011 31 December 2010
2011 146 198
2012 171 131
2013 97 80
2014 90 74
2015 until expiry of the contracts 292 222
Total 796 705
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* Lease commitments

In the context of its business, ARKEMA has signedsk contracts, of which the majority are operdtage
agreements. Lease agreements signed by ARKEMA analyrin respect of property rental (head officesd,

Fos port concession) and transportation equipmaittc@rs, containers, transport barges).

The amounts presented in the table below corresftige future minimum payments that will need ¢orbade

in accordance with these contracts (only the ircabte portion of future lease payments has bearedal

30 June 2011 31 December 2010
Non- Non-
Capitalized capitalized Capitalized capitalized
In millions of euros leases leases leases leases
2011 1 18 2 32
2012 2 19 2 22
2013 2 18 2 20
2014 2 17 2 18
2015 and beyond 7 66 8 69
Nominal value of future lease payments 14 138 16 161
Finance cost 3 NA 3 NA
Present value 11 NA 13 NA

NA: not applicable

19.1.30ff balance sheet commitments related to chang#sei scope of consolidation

Warranties related to sales of businesses
Sales of businesses sometimes involve the provisfowarranties in respect of unrecorded liabilittesthe

purchaser. ARKEMA sometimes grants such warramtiethe sale of businesses. In most cases thesantiagr
are capped and granted for a limited period of tifiteey are also limited in terms of their coverdgeertain

types of litigation and claims. In the majority adses, they cover risks of occurrence of environatgrrelated

claims.

The cumulative residual amount of capped warrantiegspect of unrecorded liabilities granted ia thast by
ARKEMA amounted to €63 million at 30 June 2011 (8&dlion at 31 December 2010). These amounts are

stated net of provisions recognized in the balatheet in respect of such warranties.

19.1.4 Off balance sheet commitments related taisfimancing

These commitments are described in note C15 Debt.
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19.2 Commitments received

Commitments received from TOTAL in 2006

In connection with the Spin-Off of Arkema’s Busises, Total S.A. and certain Total companies hateneed
certain indemnities, or have assumed certain didigs, for the benefit of ARKEMA, relating to (i)ectain
antitrust litigation, (ii) certain actual or potaitenvironmental liabilities of the Group arisifrgm certain sites
in France, Belgium and the United States, the djpers on which in the majority of cases have ceag@ajl
certain tax matters, and (iv) the Spin-Off of Arlk&m Businesses. These indemnities and obligatioes a
described in the notes to the consolidated finarst@tements for the year ended 31 December 204 (n
C28.2).

20 Subsequent events

On 1 July 2011, ARKEMA finalized its acquisitiorgrfan enterprise value of €550 million, of two aftal's
specialty chemicals businesses: coatings resirsy(&alley and Cook Composites Polymers), and photc

resins (Sartomer) (see note C7 Business combirgtion

On 26 July 2011, the Group put in place a new raultrency syndicated credit facility in the amooft€700
million, with a duration of five years, maturing @b July 2016. On 26 July 2011, the Group also cedithe
amount of the multi-currency syndicated creditlfgcset up in 2006 to €300 million (see note C1é&bb).
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SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION AT 30 JUNE 2011

(a) Companies merged in 2011

(b) Companies consolidated for the first time in 201

The percentage of control indicated below alsoesponds to the Group’s ownership interest in eatitye

Akishima Chemical Industries Co.Ltd
Alphacan

Alphacan BV

Alphacan Doo

Alphacan SPA

Altuglas International Denmark A/S
Altuglas International Ltd

Altuglas International Mexico Inc.
Altuglas International S.A.S.
Altumax Deutschland GmbH
Altumax Europe SAS

American Acryl LP

American Acryl NA LLC

Arkema

Arkema

Arkema Afrique SAS

Arkema Amériques SAS

Arkema Asie SAS

Arkema Beijing Chemical Co. Ltd
Arkema Canada Inc.

Arkema Changshu Chemicals Co. Ltd
Arkema Changshu Fluorochemical Co. Ltd
Arkema China Investment Co. Ltd

Arkema Coatings Resins SAU (ex Alphacan Espana
Transformados SAU)

Arkema Coatings Resins SRL (ex Altuglas Polivar)Spa
Arkema Co. Ltd

Arkema Daikin Advanced Fluorochemicals Co. Ltd
Arkema Delaware Inc.

Arkema Europe

Arkema France

Arkema GmbH

Arkema Holdings Ltd

Arkema Hydrogen Peroxide Co. Ltd, Shanghai
Arkema Inc.

Arkema Iniciadores SA de CV

Japan
France
Netherlands
Croatia
Italy
Denmark
United Kingdom
United States
France
Germany
France
United States
United States
South Korea
France
France
France
France
China

Canada
China

China
China

Spain

Italy

Hong Kong
China

United States
France
France
Germany
United Kingdom
China

United States
Mexico

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
50.00
50.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

99.92
100.00
100.00
60.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
66.67
100.00
100.00

FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
PC
PC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC

FC
FC
FC
PC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
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Arkema KK
Arkema Ltd
Arkema Ltd
Arkema Mexico SA de CV
Arkema North Europe BV

Arkema PEKK Inc (ex Oxford Performance Materials.)n

Arkema Peroxides India Private Limited
Arkema Pte Ltd

Arkema Quimica Ltda

Arkema Quimica SA

Arkema RE Ltd

Arkema RE SA

Arkema Rotterdam BV

Arkema Shanghai Distribution Co. Ltd
Arkema sp Z.0.0

Arkema Srl

Arkema Vlissingen BV

Arkema Yoshitomi Ltd

Ceca ltaliana Srl

Ceca SA

Changshu Coatex Additives Co. Ltd
Changshu Haike Chemicals Co. Ltd
Changshu Resichina Engeneering Polymers Co Ltd
Coatex Asia Pacific (ex Coatex Korea)
Coatex Asia Pacific Inc.

Coatex Central Eastern Europe sro
Coatex Inc.

Coatex Netherlands BV

Coatex SAS

Daikin Arkema Refrigerants Asia Ltd

Daikin Arkema Refrigerants Trading (Shanghai) Co.

Ltd

Delaware Chemicals Corporation
Dorlyl snc

Febex SA

Luperox Iniciadores SA de CV
Maquiladora General de Matamoros SA de CV
Michelet Finance, Inc.

Meglas srl

MLPC International
ODOR-TECH LLC

Oxochimie

Ozark Mahoning Company
Plasgom SAU

(b)

(@)

2011 Half -Year Financial Report
Free translation for information purposes only

Japan

United Kingdom

Vietham
Mexico

Netherlands
United States
India
Singapore
Brazil

Spain
Ireland
France
Netherlands
China
Poland
Italy
Netherlands
Japan
Italy
France
China
China
China

South Korea

South Korea
Slovakia
United States
Netherlands
France
Hong Kong

China

United States
France
Switzerland
Mexico
Mexico
United States
Italy

France
United States
France
United States
Spain

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100,00
100.00
100.00
100.00
99.92
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
49.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
49.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
40.00

40.00
100.00
100.00
96.77
100.00
100.00
100.00
33.00
100.00
100.00
50.00
100.00
99.92

FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
EM
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
PC

PC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
FC
EM
FC
FC
PC
FC
FC
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Qatar Vinyl Company Limited QSC Qatar 12.91 EM
Résil Belgium Belgium 100.00 FC
Resilia SRL Italy 100.00 FC
Resinoplast France 100.00 FC
Resinoplast North America Srl de CV Mexico 100.00 FC
Seki Arkema South Korea 51.00 FC
Shanghai Arkema Gaoyuan Chemicals Co. Ltd China 93.40 FC
Stannica LLC United States 50.00 PC
Sunclear SA Espana (ex Plasticos Altumax SA) Spain 99.92 FC
Sunclear SA France (ex Sunclear France) France 100.00 FC
Sunclear SRL (ex Altuglas International SRL) Italy 100.00 FC
Turkish Products, Inc. United States 100.00 FC
Viking chemical company United States 100.00 FC
Vinylberre (@ France 100.00 FC
Vinylfos France 100.00 FC

NB: FC: Full consolidation PC: Proportionate consdl@aEM: consolidation by the equity method
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- DECLARATION BY THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE
FOR THE HALF-YEAR FINANCIAL REPORT

| certify that, to the best of my knowledge, thendensed consolidated financial statements at JORe2311
have been prepared in accordance with the appiicaddounting standards, and give a fair view ofassets,
liabilities, financial position and profit or losd the Company and all its consolidated compardes, that the
half-year activity report includes a fair reviewtbe main events of the first six months of theryézeir impact
on the condensed consolidated financial statemehés,major transactions between related partied, @an

description of the main risks and uncertaintiesttierremaining six months of the financial year.

Thierry Le Hénaff
Chairman and CEO
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Arkema S.A.

Statutory Auditor’'s Review Report
on the first half-year information
for 2011
(free translation of the French original)

January*®'to June 30 2011
Arkema S.A.
420, rue d’Estienne d’Orves - 92700 Colombes
This report contains 3 pages
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KPMG Audit Ernst & Young Audit
Département de KPMG S.A. Faubourg de I'’Arche
1, cours Valmy 11, allée de 'Arche

92923 Paris La Défense Cedex 92037 Paris la Défense Cedex

S.A.S. a capital variable
Commissaire aux Comptes
Membre de la Compagnie Commissaire aux Comptes
Régionale de Versailles Membre de la Compagnie
Régionale de Versailles

This is a free translation into English of the staty auditors’ review report issued in the Fretaiguage and i
provided solely for the convenience of English e readers. This report should be read in corjanawith,
and is construed in accordance with, French lawpmaféssional auditing standards applicable in E&gan

Arkema S.A.

Registered office : 420, rue d’Estienne d’'Orve27@ Colombes
Share capital : €. 618, 438, 270

Statutory Auditors’ Review Report on the first half-year financial information for 2011

(free translation of the French original)

January T to June 361 2010

To the Shareholders,

Following our appointment as statutory auditorsyloyr Annual General Meetings, and in accordancd wit
article L.451-1-2 Ill of the French Monetary andh&incial Law (Code Monétaire et Financier), we hgmport

to you on:

- the review of the accompanying condensed half-geasolidated financial statements of Arkema SoAthe
period Januarysito June 36 2011,

- the verification of information contained in thalf-year management report.

These condensed half-year consolidated financédistents are the responsibility of the Board o&&liors. Our

role is to express a conclusion on these finarstééments based on our review.

| - Conclusion on the financial statements

We conducted our review in accordance with professi standards applicable in France. A review cigasf
making inquiries, primarily of persons responsifefinancial and accounting matters, and apphanglytical

and other review procedures. A review is substiyti@ss in scope than an audit conducted in acmed with
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professional standards applicable in France. Camsdty, the assurance, in the context of a revidnat the
financial statements taken as a whole are freégoifeant misstatements is a moderate assurapeerithan

that given by an audit.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attenthat causes us to believe that the accompanying
condensed half-year consolidated financial statésnare not prepared, in all material respects,cooalance
with IAS 34 - standard of the IFRS as adopted by Buropean Union applicable to interim financial

information.

Il — Specific verification
We have also verified the information given in thedf-year management report, commenting the coretens
half-year consolidated financial statements subpéabur review. We have no matters to report aggdair

presentation and consistency with the condensdég/bal consolidated financial statements.

Paris la Défense, August 12011

The Statutory Auditors

KPMG Audit Ernst &ihg Audit
Département de KPMG S.A
Bertrand Desbarriéres Francois Carreyalérie Quint
Partner Partner Partner
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